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COG Financial Services Limited (formerly Consolidated Operations Group Limited) 
and its controlled entities 

ABN 58 100 854 788  
 

Appendix 4E & Preliminary Final Report 
 

Unaudited results for announcement to the market  
Year ended 30 June 2021 

 

Comparisons are to the year ended 30 June 2020 
  

 
30 June 2021  

$’000 
30 June 2020  

$’000 up/down % movement 
     

Revenue from continuing operations 271,680 218,548 up 24% 
Net profit/(loss) from continuing operations  (17,395) (5,371) down 224% 
Net profit/(loss) from continuing operations 
after tax, attributable to members 

 
(26,378) 

 
(10,046) 

 
down 

 
163% 

 
 30 June 2021  

Cents 
30 June 2020  

Cents   

     

Earnings/(loss) per share, attributable to 
members (1.63) (0.68)   

     
 30 June 2021 

$’000 
30 June 2020   

$’000   

     

Net assets 189,661 192,387   
Less:  Intangible assets (117,728) (141,698)   
           Non-controlling interests (37,322) (18,204)   
           Right-of-use lease assets (6,160) (5,524)   
Net tangible assets 28,451 26,961   
     

NTA per share (cents) (1) 1.71 1.72   
 
Commentary and explanations of the results 
The financial report of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 presents the consolidated 
financial performance for the Group. Additional Appendix 4E disclosure requirements, commentary, and 
explanation of the results for the financial year are contained in the Directors’ Report and the accompanying 
Financial Report dated 26 August 2021. 
 
Dividends 
The Board has declared a final dividend of $9,981k (6.0 cents per fully paid ordinary share) (0.6 cents per fully 
paid ordinary share, pre-consolidation). This dividend will be paid on 22 October 2021 out of the Company’s 
profit reserve at 30 June 2021 to all shareholders registered on the record date of 23 September 2021 and will 
be 100% franked. The ex-dividend date for entitlement will be 22 September 2021.  
 
The dividend will be paid out of prior years’ profits appropriated to the Company’s profit reserve (and not offset 
against accumulated losses).  
 
 
 

Notes 
(1)  The decrease in NTA per share (cents) reflects the Group’s increase in participation in controlled entities during the year ended 30 June 

2021, offset by the issue of new shares during the financial year, as disclosed in Note E1. 

(2)   All the documents comprise the information required by listing rule 4.3A. The information should be read in conjunction with the 
unaudited 30 June 2021 annual financial report and all ASX announcements made by the Company during the year. 
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COG Financial Services Limited (formerly Consolidated Operations Group Limited) 
and its controlled entities 

ABN 58 100 854 788 

Appendix 4E & Preliminary Final Report 
Unaudited results for announcement to the market 

Year ended 30 June 2021 

Dividends (continued) 
The Company established a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) for its shareholders on 5 February 2020. The DRP 
will apply to the final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2021 and will remain in place until further notice. 
Participation in the DRP is optional and available to eligible shareholders of fully paid ordinary shares in the 
Company with a registered address in Australia or New Zealand as at the record date of 23 September 2021. 
Shareholders who successfully participate in the DRP for the final FY21 dividend will be issued shares at a share 
price determined in accordance with the DRP Rules based on the average daily volume weighted average price 
(“VWAP”) during the period of 10 days commencing on 27 September 2021. The Board has determined that a 
discount of 5% on the Market Price will apply to new shares issued under the DRP. 

30 June 
2021 

$’000 

30 June 
2020 

$’000 
 

Dividends paid or provided during the year/period 
 

Final 2021 fully franked ordinary dividend of 6.0 cents (0.6 cents per share, pre-
consolidation of share capital) (2020: 0.152 cents) per fully paid ordinary share 
franked at the tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%)  9,981 2,390 

Interim 2021 fully franked ordinary dividend of 0.122 cents (2020: nil) per fully 
paid ordinary share franked at the tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%)  2,007 Nil 

Dividends (distributions) Amount per 
security 

Franked amount 
per security Record date Payment date 

Final dividend 30 June 2020 (previous year) 0.152 cents 100% 24 September 
2020 

23 October 
2020 

Interim dividend 31 December 2020 0.122 cents 100% 26 March 
2021 

26 April 
2021 

Final dividend 30 June 2021 6.0 cents 100% 23 September 
2021 

22 October 
2021 

Changes in control and significant influence 
The notes to the financial statements outline entities over whom the Group has gained control (see Note E1) 
or significant influence (see Note E2) during the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 

Patrick Tuttle  
26 August 2021 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2021  

 Notes 
2021  

$’000 
2020  

$’000 
    
Revenue from continuing operations A2 271,680 218,548 
Cost of sales  (68,754) (58,889) 
Commissions paid  (95,395) (76,703) 
Employee benefits expense A3 (42,272) (36,523) 
Administration expenses  (10,903) (17,828) 
Occupancy expenses  (1,634) (1,355) 
Finance costs A4 (8,068) (8,577) 
Depreciation and amortisation  (11,360) (9,560) 
Acquisition-related expenses  (163) (702) 
Impairment  B1,B2 (37,767) (12,009) 
Loss on deemed sale & reacquisition of investment at fair value E1 (4,590) - 
Other expenses  (488) (396) 
Share of results from associates E2 1,223 642 
Profit/(loss) before income tax  (8,491) (3,352) 
Income tax expense A5.1 (8,904) (2,019) 
Profit/(loss) after tax for the year  (17,395) (5,371) 
    
Other comprehensive income/(loss):    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the statement of 
profit or loss:   

 

Revaluations by associate E2 - (740) 
Changes in equity securities fair value E3.3 5,677 (13,139) 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  (11,718)     (19,250) 
    
Profit/(loss) after tax attributable to:    
Members of COG Financial Services Limited  (26,378) (10,046) 
Non-controlling interests  8,983 4,675 
Total profit/(loss) after tax for the year  (17,395) (5,371) 
    
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:    
Members of COG Financial Services Limited  (21,775) (23,925) 
Non-controlling interests  10,057 4,675 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  (11,718) (19,250) 
    
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share from continuing 
operations, attributable to members (cents): A6 

 
(1.63) 

 
(0.68) 

    
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2021 

 Notes 
2021  

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Assets    
Current    
Cash and cash equivalents A7 94,514 34,691 
Trade and other receivables C1 18,175 17,973 
Contract assets C3 2,787 2,553 
Financial assets - lease receivables D1 42,463 34,057 
Financial assets - loans D2 46,377 470 
Other financial assets C4 1,334 1,338 
Inventories   72 51 
Total current assets  205,722 91,133 
    
Non-current    
Contract assets C3 7,085 6,551 
Financial assets - lease receivables D1 50,576 55,326 
Financial assets - loans D2 52,543 1,824 
Other financial assets C4 10,835 3,193 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income E6 908 8,876 
Equity accounted associates E2 18,404 16,194 
Property, plant and equipment  6,729 1,094 
Intangible assets B1 117,728 141,698 
Right-of-use lease assets B3 6,160 5,524 
Total non-current assets  270,968 240,280 
Total assets  476,690 331,413 
      
Liabilities    
Current    
Trade and other payables C2 27,416 19,816 
Customer salary packaging liability  6,800 5,932 
Interest bearing liabilities D3 183,473 45,283 
Current tax liabilities  7,432 3,054 
Provisions  6,640 4,538 
Other liabilities   327 105 
Lease liabilities D5 1,495 1,616 
Total current liabilities  233,583 80,344 
    
Non-current    
Trade and other payables C2 2,915 1,001 
Interest bearing liabilities D3 35,704 45,750 
Deferred tax liabilities A5.2 8,438 6,876 
Lease liabilities D5 5,269 4,401 
Provisions  1,120 654 
Total non-current liabilities  53,446 58,682 
Total liabilities  287,029 139,026 
    
Net assets  189,661 192,387 
    
    
Equity    
Share capital          E3 247,315 241,179 
Accumulated losses   (117,793) (91,415) 
Reserves E3.3 22,817 24,419 
Non-controlling interests  37,322 18,204 
Total equity  189,661 192,387 
 
 
 
 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.   
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

 Notes 
Share capital 

$’000 

Accumulated 
losses 
$’000 

Reserves  
$’000 

Non-controlling 
interests   

$’000 
Total equity 

$’000 
       
Balance at 1 July 2020  241,179    (91,415) 24,419 18,204 192,387 
Net profit/(loss) for the year, after tax   -  (26,378)  -  8,983 (17,395) 
Changes in equity securities fair value  - - 4,603 1,074 5,677 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year   -  (26,378) 4,603 10,057 (11,718) 
       
Transactions with owners:       
Share based payment expense  - - (60) - (60) 
Option to acquire further interest in subsidiary  - - (1,132) - (1,132) 
Transactions between owners  - - 1,711 - 1,711 
Non-controlling interests acquired   - - (2,328) (593) (2,921) 
Non-controlling interest recognised through business combinations  - - - 18,476 18,476 
Non-controlling interest acquisition contribution  - - - 1,202 1,202 
Dividends  - - (4,396) (10,024) (14,420) 
Issue of share capital  6,315 - - - 6,315 
Costs of raising capital, net of tax  (179) - - - (179) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 E3 247,315 (117,793) 22,817 37,322 189,661 
       
Balance at 1 July 2019 as originally reported  220,905    (81,369) 38,564 20,874 198,974 
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 16 Leases (net of tax)   -  - (222) (131) (353) 
Adjusted balance at 1 July 2019  220,905 (81,369) 38,342 20,743 198,621 
Net profit for the year, after tax   -  (10,046)  -  4,675 (5,371) 
Changes in equity securities fair value  - - (13,139) - (13,139) 
Movements in reserves   -  - (740) - (740) 
Total comprehensive income for the year   -  (10,046) (13,879) 4,675 (19,250) 
       
Transactions with owners:       
Share based payment expense  - - 100 - 100 
Non-controlling interests acquired   - - (144) (1,958) (2,102) 
Dividends  - - - (5,559) (5,559) 
Issue of share capital  20,753 - - - 20,753 
Non-controlling interest acquisition contribution  - - - 303 303 
Costs of raising capital, net of tax  (479) - - - (479) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 E3 241,179 (91,415) 24,419 18,204 192,387 
 [ 

 
 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

 Notes 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from customers  352,281 284,632 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (250,376) (209,869) 
Dividends received  735 - 
Finance costs paid  (8,285) (8,659) 
Income taxes paid  (7,260) (3,284) 
Net cash inflow from operating activities A7 87,095 62,820 
    
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Net cash inflow/(outflow) on acquisitions, net of cash acquired  33,024 (23,540) 
Payments for deferred consideration     (3,370)    (188) 
Payments for equipment - finance leases  (760) (29,076) 
Loans advanced  (7,704) (2,340) 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (1,765) (695) 
Payments for intangible assets  (1,135) (982) 
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares  4,996 - 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and investments  3,854 - 
Loan repayments received  308 89 
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities  27,448 (56,732) 
    
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of shares  6,315  20,197      
Costs of raising capital   (179) (479) 
Proceeds from interest bearing liabilities  5,000 42,539 
Repayments of interest bearing liabilities   (50,469)  (52,421) 
Repayment of lease liabilities - right-of-use lease assets  (2,169) (2,014) 
Dividends paid  (4,396) - 
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests  (10,024) (5,559) 
Non-controlling interest acquisition contribution  1,202 303 
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities  (54,720) 2,566 
    
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  59,823 8,654 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the financial year  34,691  26,037  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the financial year A7 94,514 34,691 
    
    
Non-cash investing and financing activities:    
Scrip consideration issued for acquisitions of investments  560 556 
    
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Preface to the Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
COG Financial Services Limited (formerly Consolidated Operations Group Limited) (COG or the Company) and its controlled 
entities (the Group) is an Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) listed Company whose principal activities are focused on the 
equipment finance sector. The investment objective of the Company is to grow earnings per share by investing in 
complementary entities and growing existing businesses that specialise in equipment financing, broking, and aggregation. 
  
COG is the ultimate parent company of the Group and is a for-profit listed company limited by shares, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia. 
 
The financial statements have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 August 2021. 
 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that: 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting 
Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), 

• include the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company as at 30 June 2021 and the results of the 
subsidiaries for the year then ended. Inter-entity transactions with, or between subsidiaries are eliminated in full 
on consolidation, 

• have been prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value, and 

• are measured and presented in Australian dollars which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency 
with all values rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated, in accordance with ASIC Legislative 
Instrument 2016/191. 

 
The Company’s principal place of business is Level 1, 72 Archer Street, Chatswood, NSW 2067.  
 
The registered office is Level 5, 126 Phillip Street, Sydney, NSW, 2000. 
 
Key judgements and estimates 
Due to the dynamic and evolving nature of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and limited recent experience of the economic 
and financial impacts, changes to the key judgements and estimates have been applied to reflect the increased estimation 
uncertainty in the preparation of these financial statements. 
 
Key judgements, accounting estimates and assumptions, including any significant changes to those applied in the preparation 
of the 2021 Annual Financial Report, are shown in the relevant notes. The accounting policies adopted have been consistently 
applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.  
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, Management have also made judgements and applied estimates 
concerning future events. 
 
Judgements and estimates that are material to the financial report are found in the following notes: 

• A2 Revenue  
• A5 Taxation 
• B2 Impairment of intangible assets 
• C1 Trade and other receivables 
• C3 Contract assets 
• D1 Financial assets - lease receivables 
• D2 Financial assets - loans 
• E1 Business combinations 

  
Reclassification or restatement of prior year balances 
Certain prior year amounts in the following notes to the financial statements have been reclassified or restated to 
conform to the current year presentations. 

• Statement of financial position 
• C1 Trade and other receivables 
• C2 Trade and other payables 
• A7 Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities 
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Preface to the Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Going concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.  
 
The Directors regularly monitor the Company’s cash position and, on an on-going basis, consider a number of options to 
ensure that adequate funding continues to be available for the Company to meet all of its commitments. 
 
As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s current assets of $205,722k are $27,861k lower than current liabilities of $233,583k due to 
COG’s subsidiary Westlawn Finance Limited, which funds its operations through the issue of short-term unsecured notes. 
Whilst the carrying value of those notes has been presented in the balance sheet in accordance with their maturity profile, 
historically there has been a consistently high reinvestment rate by investors, who choose not to withdraw their funds at the 
maturity of the note term, and roll their funds into a new unsecured note. On this basis, the mismatch between current 
assets and current liabilities is not indicative of any going concern issue. 
 
The Directors are satisfied the current level of cash reserves, availability of operational cash flow, and quantum of financing, 
which can be secured through the means noted above, will be sufficient to meet the ongoing operational commitments of 
the Company for more than 12 months from the date of this report. 
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A - Financial Performance  
 
A1 OPERATING SEGMENTS 
The Group has three operating segments based upon the products and services offered by business units within each 
segment. The Group presents the financial information below to the Directors each month or quarter. 
The Group’s reportable segments are as follows: 

• Finance Broking and Aggregation activities comprise business units focused on the aggregation of broker volumes 
to maximise profitability through scale, and finance broking focused on a range of finance products and asset types, 

• Lending activities are focused on providing bespoke financing arrangements to commercial customers for essential 
business assets, and  

• All Other / Intersegment activities, which include: 
o managed IT services provided by Hal Group Pty Limited, 
o equity investment of 16.59% in the associate Earlypay Limited (formerly CML Group Limited), and 
o corporate office function provided by the ultimate parent entity. 

 

30 June 2021 

Finance Broking 
and Aggregation 

$’000 
Lending (2) 

$’000 

All Other / 
Intersegment 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Revenue 229,582 34,204 6,023 269,809 

Underlying EBITDA from core operations (1) 31,667 21,798 (2,532) 50,933 

Impairment  - (37,752) (15) (37,767) 

Loss on deemed sale and reacquisition of investment at fair value - (4,590) - (4,590) 

Fraud provision - (304) - (304) 

Redundancy and restructuring costs (149) (37) (80) (266) 

EBITDA from core operations 31,518 (20,885) (2,627) 8,006 

Dividend income       735 

Interest income    1,136 

Acquisition-related expenses       (163) 

Depreciation and amortisation       (11,360) 

Finance costs       (8,068) 

Share of results from associates       1,223 

Profit/(loss) before tax       (8,491) 

Income tax expense       (8,904) 

Profit/(loss) after tax       (17,395) 

Non-controlling interests       (8,983) 

Profit/(loss) after tax, attributable to members       (26,378) 

30 June 2020 

Finance Broking  
and Aggregation 

$’000 
Lending (2) 

$’000 

All Other / 
Intersegment 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Revenue 194,021 17,224 7,091 218,336 

Underlying EBITDA from core operations (1) 21,055 12,101 (1,925) 31,231 

Impairment  (1,071) (10,827) (111) (12,009) 

Change in accounting estimate - (3,898) - (3,898) 

Redundancy and restructuring costs (192) (678) (58) (928) 

EBITDA from core operations 19,792 (3,302) (2,094) 14,396 

Interest income       212 

Acquisition-related expenses       (702) 

Depreciation and amortisation       (9,323) 

Finance costs       (8,577) 

Share of results from associates       642 

Profit/(loss) before tax       (3,352) 

Income tax expense       (2,019) 

Profit/(loss) after tax       (5,371) 

Non-controlling interests       (4,675) 

Profit/(loss) after tax, attributable to members       (10,046) 
 

(1) Excludes non-recurring items. 
(2) Lending (formerly the Commercial Equipment Financing (CEF) segment) includes Westlawn Finance Limited. 
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A - Financial Performance (continued) 
 
A2 REVENUE  

Key judgement - Trail commissions 
The Group receives trail commission from lenders as a percentage of the principal outstanding for several of 
its financing arrangements, subject to the continuation of the financing between the customer and the 
financier. The value of this contract asset is determined based on a discounted cashflow model which includes 
the following key inputs: 
• the weighted average implicit rate of the underlying financing arrangements, 
• principal outstanding balance, and 
• the average life expectancy of a loan prior to repayment/refinancing. 
 
These factors are complex and the determination of key assumptions requires a high degree of judgement. 
Any change in the value of the trail commission contract asset is recognised in the Commission, trail, fee, and 
volume bonus income revenue line.  

 

  
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   

Commission, trail, fee, and volume bonus income 162,620 132,132 
Sale of goods 74,291 64,645 
Finance lease income 19,807 16,870 
Finance income - loans 6,531 - 
Interest income 1,136 212 
Government grants 3,911 2,690 
Dividend income 735 - 
Other operating revenue 2,649 1,999 

 271,680 218,548 
 
Accounting policy  
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  For each contract with a customer, the Group: 
identifies the relevant contract with the customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; 
determines the transaction price, which takes into account estimates of variable consideration  and the time 
value of money (excluding credit risk); allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations 
on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and 
recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicters the transfer 
to the customer of the goods or services promised.  
 
Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such 
as discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent 
events.  Such estimates are determined using either the ‘expected value’ or ‘most likely amount’ method.  The 
measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be 
recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the 
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.  Amounts received that are subject to the constraining principle 
are recognised as a refund liability.  
 
Contract assets are recognised when the Group has transferred the promised service as at the reporting date, 
but the financier has not yet paid. 
 
Finance lease income relates to the Lending segment and most transactions within this segment are outside the 
scope of AASB 15. 
 
Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the Group satisfies all its obligations under the arrangements. 
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A - Financial Performance (continued) 
 
A2 REVENUE  
 
Accounting policy  
Revenue recognition 
Commission, fee, and volume bonus income 
Commission, fee, and volume bonus income is recognised when all the required documentation has been 
received by the financier and the Group’s obligation under the financing arrangement have been completed. 
The Group recognises revenue at a point in time and adjusts it for any risk of clawback based on the historical 
rate of clawbacks for similar transactions. The Group recognises revenue at a point in time and adjusts it for any 
risk of clawback based on the historical rate of clawbacks for similar transactions (see Note C1). 
 
Trail income 
Trail income is recognised when all the required documentation has been received by the financier and the 
Group’s obligations under the financing arrangement have been completed. The Group estimates trail income 
on a portfolio basis using the expected value method as all its financing arrangements have similar 
characteristics at the reporting date. The expected value is determined using the model outlined in the key 
judgments section above with changes in the resultant contract asset recognised in the Commission, trail, fee, 
and volume bonus income revenue line.  
 

Sale of goods 
Sale of goods is recognised at the point of sale, which is where the customer has taken delivery of the goods and 
has the capacity to pay for them in a timely manner. Revenues disclosed are stated net of returns, discounts, 
allowances, and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Sale of goods revenue is recognised in relation to 
car sales and salary packaging operations in the Finance Broking and Aggregation segment and in relation to 
hardware sales in the All Other segment. 
 

Government grants 
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all 
attached conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income 
on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are 
expensed. The Group has chosen to present cash grants relating to JobKeeper and payroll tax refunds within 
Other operating revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Group has not received 
any other grants related to assets. 
 
Finance lease income 
Finance lease income is recognised by applying the interest rate within the lease arrangement to the future lease 
payments and the estimated value of any unguaranteed end of term earnings or secondary income. Initial direct 
costs incurred in the origination of leases are included as part of the receivables in the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position. 
 
Dividend income  
Dividends are received from financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI). Dividends are recognised as other income in the Profit and loss when the right to receive payment is 
established. This applies even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly 
represents a recovery of part of the cost of an investment. 
 
A3 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE  

 Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
    
Salaries and wages expense  35,297 30,293 
Superannuation expense  3,433 2,806 
Equity-settled share-based payments expense A3.1 167 100 
Payroll tax  1,876 1,590   
Other employee benefits expense  1,499 1,734 
  42,272 36,523 
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A - Financial Performance (continued) 
 
A3.1 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS  
 
Options 
Andrew Bennett 
The Group has issued share options to Andrew Bennett who commenced as a member of key management 
personnel in the previous financial year. These share options, which were issued as part of Mr Bennett’s 
remuneration package, entitle him to acquire one share in COG at the option strike price at any time between 
the grant and expiry dates, as set out below: 
 

 
 
 

Grant date 

 
 
 

Expiry date 

 
 

Exercise 
price 

Balance at 
the 

beginning 
of the year 

 
 
 

Granted 

 
 
 

Exercised 

 
 

Expired/ 
Forfeited / 

Cancelled 

Balance at 
the  
end  

of the year 

        
25 July 2018 30 June 2021 $0.105 - 6,857,143 - - 6,857,143 
25 July 2019 30 June 2022 $0.105 6,857,143 3,225,806 - - 10,082,949 
23 December 2020 30 June 2023 $0.049 10,082,949 4,184,100 - (10,082,949) 4,184,100 

 
The options have the following characteristics: 
 

Option valuation method Black-Scholes 
Market conditions None 
Service conditions None 
Nature of settlement Equity settled 

 
The valuation model inputs during the year ended 30 June 2021 included: 
 

Grant date 23 December 2020 
Expiry date 30 June 2023 
Option valuation - grant date share price $0.076 per share 
Option valuation - grant date risk free rate 0.11% 
Option valuation - historical volatility 66.8% as the same duration as the option term 
Option valuation - historical dividend yield Nil% 
Option valuation - early exercise Assumes early exercise at 2x option exercise price 

 
 
At an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) held on 30 June 2021, the shareholders approved the consolidation 
of the Company’s issued share capital (every 10 shares and every 10 options were consolidated into one share 
and one option, respectively), effective 1 July 2021, and the cancellation of 6,857,143 and 3,225,806 unlisted 
options (on a pre-consolidation basis) issued to Mr Bennett in exchange for payments to him of $127,081 and 
$100,000, respectively, recognised against the share based payment reserve. The remaining 4,184,100 options 
on a pre-consolidated basis (post-consolidation: 418,410 options) will lapse if not exercised on the earlier of the 
date of termination of Mr Bennett’s employment, and the date three years subsequent to the option grant date. 
 
At the EGM the shareholders also approved the adoption of a new Long Term Incentive (LTI) plan, effective 1 
January 2021. The revised LTI plan allows for the issue of performance rights, options, or shares in the Company 
(Incentive Securities), or a combination of those Incentive Securities. The Board may determine from time to 
time to issue Incentive Securities under the LTI plan. 
 
Under the revised remuneration arrangements that came into effect on 1 January 2021, Mr Bennett is entitled 
to receive performance rights with a grant date value of up to $237,500 per annum (and representing up to 50% 
of his fixed annual remuneration) that will be subject to vesting conditions set by the Board. The performance 
rights granted each year will vest over 3 years. 
 
No other KMP were eligible to participate in the LTI plan in 2021. No options have been granted over unissued 
shares during or since the end of the financial year.  
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A - Financial Performance (continued) 
 
A3.1 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS  
 
 

Employee expenses 
Employee expenses are recognised in the profit and loss when the employee delivers the related service. 
 
Equity-settled share-based payment 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured at fair value on the date where all parties agree to the terms 
of the arrangement. Fair value is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the factors 
outlined above. The share-based payment is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding increase in equity 
over the term of the arrangement with the expense allocated over the term of the arrangement, based on the 
best available estimate of the remuneration expected to be paid at the end of the term. No adjustment is made 
to any expense recognised in the prior year if the actual and estimated amount of share-based payments vary. 
 
Employee benefit liabilities 
Employee benefits are included in current provisions at their face value if the Group expects to settle it within 
the next twelve months. Employee benefits payable later than one year are included in non-current provisions 
and have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those 
benefits. The present value is determined using market yields on high quality corporate bonds with terms to 
maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows. 
 

A4 FINANCE COSTS  
 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   
Interest on finance lease portfolio 7,016 7,902 
Interest on corporate facility 530 310 
Other finance costs 522 365 
 8,068 8,577 
 
The Group’s finance costs include: 

• Interest expense on finance lease portfolio; interest expense is calculated based on the funding rate 
provided by the Group’s financiers. The funding rate is dependent on the finance lease cashflows being 
funded and the specific requirements of each funder. 

• Interest expense on corporate debt; interest expense is paid monthly based on the principal outstanding 
and a market based floating rate plus margin. 

• Other finance costs; this includes interest expense on unsecured loans, minor other financing activities 
throughout the Group, and foreign exchange gains and losses. 
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A - Financial Performance (continued) 
 
A5 TAXATION  
 

Key judgement - recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and operating tax losses only if the 
Group considers it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 
differences and losses. As at 30 June 2021 the Group had a deferred tax asset of $76k recognised in relation 
to historical tax losses (2020: $1,217k). Management continues to consider it probable that future taxable 
profits would be available against which the above tax losses can be recovered and, therefore, the related 
deferred tax asset can be realised.  
 
In addition, as at 30 June 2021 the Group had $7,319k of gross unrecognised tax losses ($2,196k tax effected), 
(2020: $9,499k of gross unrecognised tax losses ($2,850k tax effected)). Management will continue to 
monitor expected future taxable profits of the Group to determine the extent that these tax losses should be 
recognised as deferred tax assets in future periods. 

 
A5.1 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 
The prima facie tax on profit before income tax is reconciled to income tax expense as follows: 
 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   

Accounting profit/(loss) before income tax  (8,491) (3,352) 
   
Prima facie tax payable on profit/(loss) before income tax at 30% (2020: 
30%) (2,547) (1,006) 
   
Add/(deduct):   
Impairment expense 10,990 - 
Loss on deemed sale & reacquisition of investment at fair value 1,147 - 
Gain from a bargain purchase (110) - 
Franking credits applied (7,094) (3,553) 
Other non-deductible expenses 633 3,557 
Other assessable income 6,742 3,439 
(Over)/under provision from prior years 25 (250) 
Allowable deduction for capital raising costs recognised in equity (144) (158) 
Utilisation of tax losses not previously brought to account (737) (10) 
Other items (1) - 
 8,904 2,019 

 
A5.2 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 
 
Deferred tax assets and (liabilities) are comprised of the following: 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Property, plant, and equipment 14 10,191 
Lease receivables (4,436) (13,312) 
Loans 2,108 - 
Contract assets (4,197) (3,457) 
Intangible assets (10,329) (9,117) 
Employee benefits 2,322 1,380 
Tax losses 76 1,217 
Other items 6,004 6,222 
 (8,438) (6,876) 
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A - Financial Performance (continued) 
 
A5 TAXATION 
 
Accounting policy 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity. Calculation of tax is based 
on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Tax consolidated group 
COG and its wholly owned Australian resident subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under 
the tax consolidation regime. The head entity within that tax consolidated group is COG. Consequently, these 
entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities are offset in the 
consolidated financial statements. In addition, certain controlled entities and their wholly owned subsidiaries 
have formed income tax consolidated groups under the tax consolidation regime. These entities are also taxed 
as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of these tax consolidated groups are offset in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Current tax 
Current tax liabilities are taxation obligations to the Australian Taxation Office that are unpaid at the reporting 
date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the consolidated financial 
statements (accounting profit).  
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where there is a difference in timing between the accounting 
recognition of the asset or liability and the tax timing of the same asset or liability. This method is used for all 
differences between tax and accounting basis except for: 

• initial recognition of goodwill, or 
• if the transaction has no impact on accounting or taxable profit.  

 
In addition, a deferred tax liability is not recognised if the reversal of the difference is under the control of the 
Group, it relates to investments in subsidiaries or associates and the Group does not intend to take any action 
to trigger a change in ownership of the subsidiary or associate in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised up to the value that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits 
in future years to offset the asset reversals; this is based on forecasts of individual subsidiaries in the Group and 
their future taxable profits and the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised, such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.  
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the 
Group has the legal ability and intent to settle these amounts on a net basis with the same taxation authority. 
 
A6 EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Both the basic and diluted earnings per share have been calculated using the profit attributable to members of 
the Company as the numerator. 
 2021 2020 
Profit/(loss) after income tax, attributable to members ($’000) (26,378) (10,046) 
   
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) (1.63) (0.68) 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 
used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share (‘000) 1 1,622,718 1, 470,740 

Closing number of ordinary shares on issue at the end of the year (‘000) 1 1,663,461 1,571,736 
 

1 Pre consolidation 
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A - Financial Performance (continued) 
 
A6 EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
There are no outstanding securities that if they were able to be exercised by the holders as at 30 June 2021 
would reduce earnings per share to other shareholders (potentially dilutive) in nature for the Company. The 
Company’s share capital was consolidated effective 1 July 2021, refer Note E3.1. 
 
 
A7 RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

 
2021  

$’000 
2020  

$’000 
   

Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities after income tax (26,378) (10,046) 
   
Adjustments for non-cash items included in profit or loss:   
Amortisation  8,793 7,191 
Depreciation 2,567 2,369 
Impairment  37,767 12,009 
Change in accounting estimate - 3,898 
Loss on deemed sale & reacquisition of investment at fair value 4,590 - 
Share based payment 60 (100) 
Share consideration  (560) (556) 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment - - 
Share of equity accounted results (less dividend received) 1,318 657 
Profit after tax attributable to non-controlling interests 8,983 4,675 
Finance lease income - unguaranteed secondary income (1,889) (1,548) 
   
Changes in assets and liabilities:   
Movement in trade and other receivables 421 (207) 
Movement in contract assets (768) 388 
Movement in other financial assets 2,379 2,191 
Movement in inventories 21 (38) 
Movement in trade and other payables 9,429 (3,898) 
Movement in current and deferred tax liabilities 1,486 (1,857) 
Movement in other liabilities 1,276 (158) 
Movement in provisions (677) (1,188) 
Movement in financial assets - lease receivables 19,438 49,082 
Movement in financial assets - loans 18,839 (44) 
Net cash inflow from operating activities 87,095 62,820 
 
 

 
Cash and cash equivalents  
This is comprised of cash at bank and on hand. Included in cash at bank and on hand are amounts of $10,549k 
(2020: $5,282k) which are funds held by the Group on behalf of its novated leasing customers, and insurance 
broking trust accounts (representing the unpaid insurance premiums due to insurers and refunds due to 
customers) and are not available for general use.  
 
Financial exposures - Credit risk 
Cash is held with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated A- to AA-, based on Standard and 
Poor’s long-term credit ratings and as such credit risk is low.  
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B - Intangibles and Lease Assets 
 
B1 INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
 
Reconciliation of carrying amount 

Carrying amount  
Goodwill 

$’000 
Software 

$’000 

Customer 
relationships 

$’000 

Supplier 
agreements 

$’000 
Other 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

       
Balance at 1 July 2019 119,876 3,072 30,603 4,460 1,118 159,129 
Acquisition through business 
combinations 24 - - - - 24 
Additions - 982 - - - 982 
Impairment (10,827) (628) - - - (11,455) 
Intangible assets previously 
classified as held for sale 209 - - - - 209 
Amortisation - (1,295) (5,136) (633) (127) (7,191) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 109,282 2,131 25,467 3,827 991 141,698 

       

Balance at 1 July 2020 109,282 2,131 25,467 3,827 991 141,698 
Acquisition through business 
combinations 9,440 59 7,274 4,592 - 21,365 
Additions - 1,135 - - - 1,135 
Disposals - (331) - - - (331) 
Impairment (36,632) (714) - - - (37,346) 
Amortisation - (831) (6,284) (1,551) (127) (8,793) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 82,090 1,449 26,457 6,868 864 117,728 
 
Accounting policy 
Goodwill 
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries has an infinite useful life and is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 

Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets, including software, customer relationships, supplier agreements and other intellectual 
property that are acquired or developed by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
 

Impairment 
Other intangible assets including software, customer relationships, supplier agreements and other intellectual 
property are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use.  
 
 

Amortisation 
Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is recognised in profit or loss. Goodwill is not 
amortised. 
 

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows: 
• Software      2 – 6 years 
• Customer relationships     3 – 10 years 
• Supplier agreements     3 – 10 years 
• Other intellectual property    2 – 5 years 

 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.  
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B - Intangibles and Lease Assets (continued) 

 
B2 IMPAIRMENT TESTING 
 

Key judgement - Impairment 
Goodwill is not amortised but assessed for impairment at least once a year (and when there is evidence of 
impairment). The Group uses two methods for assessing the recoverable amount of the business units to which 
the goodwill is attached: 

• Fair Value Less Costs to Sell (FVLCTS): the amount which the business could be sold for (less sale related 
expenses), or 

• Value in Use (VIU): the value of future cashflows which the Group could generate from continuing to 
run the business discounted to current value to reflect the time value of money and risks surrounding 
the assumptions used to model future performance. 

 
The recoverable amount determined as the more favourable of the two methods outlined above is then 
compared to the carrying amount of assets to determine if there is any impairment. 
 
Impairment testing is complex and involves the following key judgements: 

• impairment is tested at a cash generating unit (CGU) level, which is the lowest level at which the Group 
generates discrete and separate cash inflows and outflows. The Group considers this to be at the 
segment level, as such impairment is tested at the level outlined in the operating segment (Note A1).  

• the calculation of FVLCTS and VIU models is complex and involves a significant number of judgements 
regarding future performance, discount rates to be applied to future performance assumptions and 
the price which an external party would pay to purchase businesses similar to those operated by the 
Group. 

 
Management have incorporated the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic into the assumptions used in 
the forecast. Assumptions used in impairment testing reflect management’s view and best estimate of the likely 
scenario based on current available information. 
 
The disclosures below outline the key assumptions and the outcome of impairment testing completed. 

 
Goodwill is allocated to the following CGUs at 30 June 2021: 
 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Cash Generating Unit   
Finance Broking and Aggregation 82,090 72,650 
Lending - 36,632 
 82,090 109,282 
 
Finance Broking and Aggregation CGU 
The value of goodwill for the Finance Broking and Aggregation segment is based on a FVLCTS model. The model 
includes the following key assumptions: 
 

• EBITDA for each business unit is broadly consistent with the actual EBITDA for the year ended 30 June 
2021. 

• EBITDA multiples ranging from 6.3x to 7.2x for arms-length transactions of businesses of similar size 
and nature to the CGU within recent financial periods (based on information provided by external 
experts). 

 
The resulting FVLCTS model is consistent with a level 3 instrument in the fair value hierarchy. No reasonably 
possible changes would unfavourably impact the model to the extent that the related goodwill would be 
impaired.  
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B - Intangibles and Lease Assets (continued) 
 
B2 IMPAIRMENT TESTING 
 
Lending segment CGUs 
Following the acquisition of a controlling interest in Westlawn Finance Limited (Westlawn), the Group revised 
its strategic plan to incorporate synergies between Westlawn and COG’s wholly owned subsidiary TL Commercial 
Finance Pty Limited (TLC) with effect from 1 March 2021. This resulted in contracts being directly originated by 
Westlawn, avoiding the duplication of processes and cost in both companies. 
 
Impairment indicators were identified at half year end as a result of the above changes, and impairment testing 
for the TLC CGU (formerly ‘Commercial Equipment Leasing’) has been updated to reflect nil originations and 
associated costs from July 2021 onwards. This resulted in an impairment loss of $36,632k, representing the full 
carrying amount of the remaining goodwill recognised for the TLC CGU. Although the test resulted in full 
impairment of the TLC CGU goodwill, the carrying value of the existing lease/loan receivable has not been 
impaired, as it represents the fair value expected to be recovered through its use or transfer to the Westlawn 
CGU. 
 
The goodwill relating to the TLC CGU was originally recognised on 1 November 2016 as a result of a change in 
accounting policy when COG ceased being an investment entity (where investments are recognised at fair value 
with any changes in value recognised in the income statement), and transitioned to consolidation accounting, 
as required by AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. The goodwill recognised on 1 November 2016 
represented the difference between the ‘deemed purchase consideration’ (calculated as the fair value of the 
investment held by the Company in its subsidiary Hal Group Pty Limited on 1 November 2016) and the fair value 
of the ‘deemed acquired identified assets’ on the same date. This goodwill was fully allocated to the TLC CGU. 
As the goodwill originated from a change in accounting policy, rather than a cash outflow from a purchase 
transaction, the impairment does not reflect a loss from a direct cash investment. 
 
The value of goodwill for the TLC CGU is based on a VIU model comprising a discounted cash flow and terminal 
value. The model includes the following key assumptions: 

• A ten-year discounted cashflow has been used to properly reflect the expected timing of residual value 
payments received on leasing contracts written in year five of the model. 

• The model assumes nil originations from July 2021 onwards, in line with changes COG’s strategic plan 
described above. 

• External funding costs and lending profitability are slightly lower than the prior year, consistent with a 
decline observed in market rates.   

• Operational expenditure broadly decreasing in line with the expected lending activity, using normalised 
2020 actual operational expenditure as a base. 

• Discount rate between 12.7% and 16.3% post-tax (FY20: 12.7% and 16.3% post-tax) and terminal 
growth rate consistent with the Reserve Bank of Australia’s long-term target consumer price index rate. 

• Forward looking macro-economic information and assumptions in relation to the ongoing COVID-19 
pandemic, including the pandemic’s impact on small to medium-sized enterprises (SME), and resulting 
impact on the financial performance of the TLC CGU. 

 
Westlawn’s discreet future cashflows have been allocated to a separate Westlawn CGU and have not been 
included in the model for TLC CGU goodwill impairment testing. No impairment testing was performed for the 
Westlawn CGUs at the reporting date as no indicators of impairment were assessed as being present (there was 
no requirement for an annual impairment testing due to their being no indefinite life intangible assets allocated 
to this CGU). 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group has also impaired capitalised software as it has been replaced 
with an enhanced software solution. As a result, a one-off impairment loss of $714k has been recognised by the 
Group.  
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B - Intangibles and Lease Assets (continued) 
 
B3 RIGHT-OF-USE LEASE ASSETS 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

   
Right-of-use lease assets - at cost 9,723 7,117 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (3,563) (1,593) 
Net carrying amount  6,160 5,524 
 

Reconciliation of carrying amount 
 

Carrying amount  
Office premises 

$’000 
Motor Vehicles 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

    

Adoption of AASB 16 at 1 July 2019 3,315 70 3,385 
Additions 3,586 150 3,736 
Disposals (4) - (4) 
Depreciation (1,518) (75) (1,593) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 5,379 145 5,524 
 

Balance at 1 July 2020 5,379 145 5,524 
Additions 2,680 41 2,721 
Disposals (113) (10) (123) 
Depreciation (1,898) (64) (1,962) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 6,048 112 6,160 
 

 
Accounting policy 
 

Group as lessee 
At contract inception, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration, and the Group obtains substantially all the economic benefits of the use of the assets. 
 

Non-lease components of property leases 
Under AASB 16, payments for non-lease components (such as property outgoings and taxes), are excluded from 
the lease liability unless an election is made to combine lease and non-lease components. A small portion of the 
Group’s leased property portfolio has non-lease components embedded within their respective contract. 
 

The Group has not elected to combine lease and non-lease components for its property leases. The expense 
related to the non-lease component continues to be recognised as an occupancy expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Recognition and measurement 
Right-of-use lease assets 
At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use (ROU) lease asset and a lease liability in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. ROU lease asset is initially measured at cost, which is made up of 
the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any 
costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of 
the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).   
 

The Group depreciates the ROU lease assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the ROU lease asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses 
the ROU lease asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 
 

The lease term represents the non-cancellable period of the lease and includes periods covered by an option to 
extend if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option. Lease terms shall only be revised if there is a 
change in the non-cancellable period or there is a reassessment upon a significant event or a change in 
circumstances that is both within the control of the lessee and affects whether or not the lessee is reasonably 
certain to exercise an option. Lease terms range from 1 to 5 years.  
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C - Working Capital 
 
C1 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
 

Key judgement - Terminated lease receivables 
Terminated lease receivables represent lease arrangements where the Group has executed its rights under 
the lease contract to seek full repayment of all outstanding contractual amounts as at the termination date. 
Prior to termination these leases are treated as finance lease receivables (see Note D1) and are discounted to 
present value based on the expected timing of lease payments over the lease term. On termination the full 
value of all future repayments is recognised as due and payable at termination date (‘grossed up’), with the 
uplift recognised in finance lease income.  
 
A provision is then raised to the extent that each individual terminated lease is not considered recoverable. 
The assessment of recoverable amount is based on each individual arrangement including the counterparty, 
security held against the lessee and any related parties, and the asset being financed. This estimate involves 
significant judgement by Management on the arrangement’s recoverability and is reassessed as the conditions 
relating to the terminated lease arrangement progress.  
 
The above accounting treatment for the terminated lease receivable asset results in: 

• an increase in finance lease income in the period in which the termination occurs, 
• an increase in the related allowance for terminated leases through doubtful debts expense, and 
• terminated leases being recognised in the Statement of Financial position at net recoverable value. 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Current   
Terminated lease receivable 18,390 19,681 
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (11,620) (11,475) 

 6,770 8,206 
   

Trade receivables 6,562 6,102 
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (199) (365) 

 6,363 5,737 
   
Accrued income and other debtors 5,208 4,221 

   
Other receivables 70 62 
Provision for clawbacks (236) (253) 

 18,175 17,973 
 
 

 
Financial exposures - Credit risk 
Management believes that the amounts that are past due by more than 30 days are collectable, based on 
historical payment behaviour and extensive analysis of customer credit risk, including underlying customers’ 
credit scores if they are available. The ageing of the Group’s trade receivables that were not impaired was as 
follows: 
 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Trade receivables   
Neither past due nor impaired 6,076 5,271 
Past due 1 - 30 days 405 491 
Past due 31 - 90 days 26 162 
Past due 91 - 120 days 5 146 
Past due 121+ days 50 32 
Total 6,562 6,102 
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C - Working Capital (continued) 

 
C1 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
Financial exposures - Credit risk 
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the year was 
as follows: 

 

Trade 
receivables 

$’000 

Terminated 
lease receivable 

$’000 

Provision for 
clawbacks 

$’000 
    
Balance at 1 July 2019 196 7,436 204 
Terminated and provided for during the year less write-offs 169 4,039 49 
Balance at 30 June 2020 365 11,475 253 
Terminated and provided for during the year less write-offs (166) 145 (17) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 199 11,620 236 
 
Accounting policy 
Trade and other receivables 
See Accounting policy in Note D4. 
 
Provision for clawbacks 
The provision for clawbacks is in relation to arrangements recognised under AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers. This reflects the risk that amounts previously recognised as revenue in relation to brokerage 
arrangements in the Finance Broking & Aggregation segment could be recovered by the financier should the 
underlying finance arrangement underperform against agreed thresholds. The provision recognised reflects the 
volume weighted historical clawback amounts calculated on an individual entity level within the Group. 
 
 
C2 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Current   
Trade payables 8,924 3,356 
Deferred consideration (1) 746 900 
Salaries and bonuses 1,342 961 
GST and other taxes 5,046 2,900 
Other payables and accruals 11,358 11,699 

 27,416 19,816 
   

Non-current   
Trade payables 337 284 
Deferred consideration (1) - 717 
GST and other taxes 2,578 - 

 2,915 1,001 
   

 
(1)  Deferred consideration is in relation to the purchase of a 5.6% interest in QPF Holdings Pty Limited from non-controlling 

shareholders on 30 June 2019, and settled in two instalments in August 2020 and August 2021. 
 
Financial exposures - Liquidity risk  
Details of the liquidity risks associated with the Group’s trade and other payables are outlined in Note D3. 
 
Accounting policy 
See Accounting policy in Note D4. 
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C - Working Capital (continued) 

 
C3 CONTRACT ASSETS  
 
Key judgement - Contract asset (trail commissions) 
See key judgment in A2. 
 

 
2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
Current   
Trail receivable 2,787 2,553 
 2,787 2,553 
   
Non-current   
Trail receivable 7,085 6,551 
 7,085 6,551 
 
Accounting policy 
See Accounting policy in Note A2. 
 
 
C4 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS  

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

   
Corporate bonds - at amortised cost 767 - 
Less: Provision for impairment  (110) - 
 657 - 
Investments - at amortised cost 1 7,500 - 
Others 4,012 4,531 

 12,169 4,531 
 

   
Current  1,334 1,338 
Non-current 10,835 3,193 
 12,169 4,531 
1 Investment in unlisted notes 

 
Reconciliation of carrying amount 
   
Balance at 1 July 4,531 4,364 
Additions 9,012 167 
Disposals (1,222) - 
Amortisation of corporate bonds (42) - 
Impairment of asset (110) - 
Balance at 30 June  12,169 4,531 
 
 
Accounting policy 
See Accounting policy in Note D4. 
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D - Financial Instruments 
 
D1 FINANCIAL ASSETS - LEASE RECEIVABLES  

Key judgment - Secondary income 
The Group’s lease arrangements include conditions whereby at the end of the initial contract term the lessee 
can: 

• continue to pay the Group for a right to use the asset,  
• return the asset to the Group in good working order, 
• purchase the asset for the higher of a contractually specified amount or the fair value of the asset 

as determined at the end of the contract term, or 
• acquire the asset for an agreed purchase amount (but only in cases where the lessee has met all 

contractual requirements). 
 

Amounts received under the above arrangements are referred to as ‘secondary income’. 
 

An estimate of the secondary income amount is calculated at the commencement of each lease with the 
value being recognised through profit and loss as part of finance lease income and on the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position as a finance lease receivable until the date on which any secondary income 
is received and/or the Group’s rights to this secondary income are extinguished. 
 

The Group estimates the expected secondary income based on the above contract requirements for each 
lease and prior experience with similar contracts. The level of secondary income return is estimated to be 
between 5% and 25% of the original equipment cost paid to the supplier.  
 

Change in accounting estimate 
In the prior year, the Group reassessed the assumptions used to estimate secondary income based on current 
circumstances, including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The reassessment was based on the historical 
secondary income recovery rates and forecast secondary income recoverability for each type of contract, 
taking into consideration specific characteristics such as asset type and the existence of purchase option 
agreements. As a result of this change in accounting estimate, the Group had recognised a reduction of $3.9m 
in Finance lease receivables (unguaranteed secondary income), and a corresponding expense in the prior 
year profit and loss. 

 
Key judgement - Expected credit loss provision 
The Group applies the simplified approach to its financial assets - lease receivables as permitted under AASB 
9 Financial instruments, where a lifetime Expected Credit Loss (ECL) provision is recognised for the whole 
lease receivable portfolio. The intent of the ECL provision is to capture the risk of non-collectability of a 
financial asset from the date it is first originated. ECL provisions are required even if there is no evidence of 
that individual financial asset being impaired, as it is a forward-looking provision designed to capture the risk 
of future losses and represents a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Finance lease receivables, 
where defaults have already occurred, are outlined in Note C1, and include terminated leases and leases with 
payments in arrears. 
 
 

The provision for ECL for finance lease receivables is based on assumptions relating to the risk of default and 
expected loss rates and reflects the expected losses over the entire life of the finance lease receivable. 
Management exercises judgement in making these assumptions and selecting model inputs for lease assets 
by taking historical static loss pool data and modifying it for lease duration, any changes in credit risk assessed 
at the commencement of each lease, and macro-economic factors which may impact future collectability. 
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (being the difference between the cash 
flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). 
 

 

Calculation of the ECL provision is based on the expected losses over the entire life of the finance lease 
receivable. It involves significant estimates and judgements in relation to: 
 

• key lease characteristics such as credit criteria on which the deal is initially assessed, lease term, 
asset type, industry type, lessee location and default security held, 

• loss and prepayment curves for the lease portfolio,  
• the extent to which historical loss rates are representative of expected future loss rates,  
• the impact of macro-economic factors on the creditworthiness of the finance lease receivables; and  
• the increased credit risk resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic on the active lease portfolio. 
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
D1 FINANCIAL ASSETS - LEASE RECEIVABLES  

Key judgement - Expected credit loss provision 
Key inputs to the ECL provision calculation for 30 June 2021 that reflect some level of variation on the criteria 
adopted in the previous year include: 

• changes in macro-economic factors including the unemployment rate, consumer, and small business 
sentiment, 

• industry specific regulatory considerations, 
• changes in lease book composition that was subject to the recognition of an ECL provision, and 
• changes in lease credit criteria at deal inception. 

The overall severity and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic is not known at the reporting date. In 
determining the ECL provision, forward looking macro-economic information and assumptions relating to the 
pandemic and other economic indicators have been considered, including the potential impacts of the 
pandemic on industry and asset types most likely to be affected. Both forward looking information, and 
analysis based on the Group’s historical loss experience, have been used to determine the ECL provision. The 
performance of the finance lease portfolio will continue to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and more 
relevant data will become available in the future to better understand the underlying credit risks and loss 
implications of the pandemic (which may be mitigated in part, by Government stimulus and regulatory 
measures). Upon termination these finance lease receivables are classified as terminated lease receivables 
(see Note C1). As at 30 June 2021 the ECL provision represents 5.2% (2020: 4.5%) of gross finance lease 
receivables. 

 

Finance lease receivables are comprised as follows: 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   
Current 42,463 34,057 
Non-current 50,576 55,326 
 93,039 89,383 
 
Gross investment in finance lease receivables:   
Less than one year 42,829 44,489 
Between one and five years 47,172 49,874 
More than five years - - 
Unguaranteed secondary income 16,746 22,094 
Gross investment 106,747 116,457 
Unearned finance income (8,579) (22,826) 
Net investment in finance leases 98,168 93,631 
Less: expected credit loss provision (5,129) (4,248) 
 93,039 89,383 
 
The present value of minimum lease payment is as follows:   
Less than one year 40,524 31,904 
Between one and five years 27,485 44,796 
More than five years - - 
 68,009 76,700 
 
Allowance for expected credit losses 
The following table provides additional information on the ageing of impaired leases (including non-accrual leases) together 
with the respective allowance for ECL: 
 Carrying 

amount 
2021 
$’000 

Carrying 
amount 

2020 
$’000 

Allowance 
for ECL 
2021 
$’000 

Allowance 
for ECL 
2020 
$’000 

Impaired leases (including non-accrual leases)     
Not in arrears (but impaired) 3,142 - (2,854) - 
More than 30 days in arrears 3,297 3,436 (233) (156) 
More than 60 days in arrears 464 1,790 (72) (81) 
More than 90 days in arrears 1,045 2,901 (563) (132) 
 7,948 8,127 (3,722) (369) 
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
D1 FINANCIAL ASSETS - LEASE RECEIVABLES  
 
An analysis of the lease portfolio by security type and geographic location of the borrower is set out below: 
 

Lease portfolio by security type 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Plant, equipment & chattels 82,636 63,404 
Registered second mortgages  10,163 25,112 
Unsecured 240 867 
Total 93,039 89,383 
 

Lease portfolio by geographic region 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
NSW  43,885 26,095 
Queensland 23,838 21,432 
Victoria 17,667 28,829 
Western Australia 4,115 6,584 
South Australia 2,238 3,551 
Northern Territory 601 1,537 
ACT 339 636 
Tasmania 356 719 
Total 93,039 89,383 
 
Financial exposures - Credit risk 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk relating to finance lease receivables arises from the potential failure by a 
lessee to meet their contractual obligations and is primarily due to individual characteristics of each lessee. 
Management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the 
default risk associated with the lessee’s industry, location, and movements in macroeconomic factors including 
those resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
The Group’s lease arrangements include retention of title clauses, so that in the event of non-payment the Group 
has a secured claim. The Group has the following maximum exposure to credit risk associated with its operations 
in the Lending segment: 

• the full balance of finance lease assets disclosed above, 
• trade receivable amounts for lease payments in arrears as disclosed in Note C1, and 
• terminated lease receivables amounts as disclosed in Note C1. 

 
To address the credit risks exposures noted above the Group recognises the following provisions for non-
recoverability: 

• the ECL provision as outlined above for leases that are currently trading as expected, 
• a specific provision based on arrears ageing for lease payments in arrears included in Note C1, and 
• a specific provision based on lease-by-lease assessment of non-recoverability for terminated lease 

receivable amounts included in Note C1. 
 
Accounting policy 
The Group’s contractual arrangements within the Lending segment are classified as finance leases for accounting 
purposes. Under a finance lease, substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the leased 
asset are transferred by the Group to the lessee. The Group recognises at the beginning of the lease term as an 
asset an amount equal to the present value of the contractual lease payments plus any expected secondary 
income; these amounts are discounted at the interest rate under the terms of the lease arrangement. Any over 
or under in recovery of this secondary income is recognised directly in the profit or loss. 
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
D2 FINANCIAL ASSETS - LOANS 

Key judgement - Expected loss provision 
The Group applies the General approach under AASB 9 for its financial assets - loans portfolio, which follows 
the three stages based on the change in credit risk since initial recognition: 
 

• Stage 1: 12 months ECL - No significant increase in default risk 
For financial assets - loans, where there has been no significant increase in default risk since 
origination a provision equivalent to 12 months ECL is recognised. These include contracts which are 
not in arrears or in arrears up to 59 days and not in hardship at reporting date. 

 

• Stage 2: Lifetime ECL - Significant increase in default risk 
For financial assets - loans, where there has been a significant increase in default risk since 
origination but where the asset is still performing a provision equivalent to lifetime ECL is recognised. 
These include contracts which are in arrears exceeding 60 days or in hardship at reporting date. 

 

• Stage 3: Lifetime ECL - Defaulted 
For financial assets - loans, that are non-performing a provision equivalent to lifetime ECL is 
recognised. Indicators include a default or breach on interest or principal payments, eg. where a 
borrower is experiencing significant financial difficulties or observable economic conditions that 
correlate to default. These include contracts which have been terminated and/or in arrears 
exceeding 180 days at reporting date (for those contracts, provision is individually assessed). 

 
Determining the stage for impairment  
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for 
exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the remaining expected life 
from the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort for this purpose.  
 
This includes quantitative and qualitative information and also, where appropriate, forward-looking analysis. 
An exposure will migrate through the ECL stages as asset quality deteriorates. If, in a subsequent period, asset 
quality improves and also reverses any previously assessed significant increase in credit risk since origination, 
then the provision for doubtful debts reverts from lifetime ECL to 12-months ECL. Exposures that have not 
deteriorated significantly since origination are considered to have a low credit risk. The provision for doubtful 
debts for these financial assets is based on a 12-months ECL. 
 
Credit quality of financial assets  
The Group has an internally developed credit rating scale derived from historical default data to assess the 
potential default risk in lending. The Group has pre-defined counterparty probabilities of default across 
consumer and business loans and advances.  
 
Inputs, assumptions, and techniques used for estimating impairment  
In assessing the impairment of financial assets under the expected credit loss model, the Group defines 
default in accordance with its Lending Policy and Procedures Manual, which includes defaulted assets and 
impaired assets as described below. Default generally occurs when a loan obligation is 30 days or more past 
due, or when it is considered unlikely that the credit obligation to the Group will be paid in full without 
recourse to actions, such as realisation of security. 
 
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk  
When determining whether the risk of default has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
considers both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the Group’s historical 
experience and expert credit risk assessment, including forward-looking information. Credit risk is deemed to 
have increased significantly when an asset is more than 30 days past due (DPD). 
 
As at 30 June 2021 the ECL provision represents 0.9% (2020: 3.8%) of gross finance loans receivable. 
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
D2 FINANCIAL ASSETS - LOANS 
 
The chattel mortgage is an equipment financing loan, secured by a mortgage over the asset being financed.  
 
Finance loans receivable are as follows: 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Current 46,377  470  
Non-current 52,543  1,824  
Total 98,920  2,294  
 
Loans 99,855 2,384  
Less: expected credit loss provision (935)  (90)  
Total 98,920  2,294  
 
 
Allowance for expected credit losses 
The following table provides additional information on the ageing of impaired loans (including non-accrual loans) 
together with the respective allowance for ECL: 
 
 Carrying 

amount 
2021 
$’000 

Carrying 
amount 

2020 
$’000 

Allowance 
for ECL 
2021 
$’000 

Allowance 
for ECL 
2020 
$’000 

Impaired loans (including non-accrual loans)     
Not in arrears (but impaired) 27 - (27) - 
More than 30 days in arrears 52 - (15) - 
More than 60 days in arrears 1 - - - 
More than 90 days in arrears 254 - (163) - 
 334 - (205) - 

 

Movements in allowance for expected credit losses on loans are as follows: 
 
 Stage 1 

12-mth ECL 
Collective 
provision 

$’000 

Stage 2 
Lifetime ECL 

Collective 
provision 

$’000 

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL 

Specific 
provision 

$’000 

 
 
 

Total 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2019 - - - - 
New and increased provisions (net of releases) 90 - - 90 
Balance at 30 June 2020 90 - - 90 
Increase due to Westlawn acquisition 620 1 221 842 
New and increased provisions (net of releases) 17 11 (25) 3 
Balance at 30 June 2021 727 12 196 935 
 
Loan funds are lent to a wide variety of business and consumer customers through a network of offices in 
northern New South Wales.  
 
The Group takes security for loans in accordance with its Lending Policy & Procedures Manual. The Group lends 
to a large number of customers in varying industries thereby reducing its exposure to the credit risk associated 
with particular customers and industries. 
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
D2 FINANCIAL ASSETS - LOANS 
 
An analysis of the loan portfolio by security type and geographic location of the borrower is set out below: 
 

Loan portfolio by security type 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Plant, equipment & chattels 46,820  1,442 
Registered first mortgages - non development loans 28,048 - 
Registered first mortgages - development loans 8,766 - 
Insurance policies (premium funding) 5,120 - 
Security interests over shares and assets 5,022 - 
Registered second mortgages  4,726 852 
Unsecured 380 - 
Other 38 - 
Total 98,920 2,294  
 

Loan portfolio by geographic region 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
NSW  64,394 698 
Queensland 22,432 338  
Victoria 6,023 989 
Western Australia 3,720 190 
South Australia 1,996 79 
Northern Territory  263 - 
Tasmania 69 - 
ACT 23 - 
Total 98,920  2,294  
 
 

The Group has implemented a structured framework of systems and controls to monitor and manage credit risk 
comprising:  

• a documented set of credit risk management principles that are adhered to by all staff involved in the 
lending process; 

• a process for approving risk based on tiered delegated lending approvals, with the largest exposures 
assessed and approved by the relevant subsidiary company Board; and 

• a financial capacity approval assessment for retail lending in the form of personal loans. 
 
Financial exposures - Credit risk 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk relating to loans arises from the potential failure by a customer to meet their 
contractual obligations and is primarily due to individual characteristics of each customer. Management also 
considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk associated 
with the customer’s industry, location, and movements in macroeconomic factors including those resulting from 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
Accounting policy 
See Accounting policy in Note D4. 
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
D3 INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Current   
Corporate facility - Bendigo Bank Limited (1) 1,500 3,000 
Debenture funding - Secured Finance Limited (2) - 16,155 
Funding liabilities - Finance leases and loans (3)  1,173 25,775 
Unsecured notes - variable (4) 15,692 - 
Unsecured notes - fixed (4) 164,290 - 
Other interest-bearing liabilities 818 353 

 183,473 45,283 
   

   
Non-current    
Corporate facility - Bendigo Bank Limited - 1,500 
Debenture funding - Secured Finance Limited (2)  - 8,985 
Funding liabilities - Finance leases and loans (3)  86 34,991 
Unsecured notes - fixed (4) 32,044 - 
Other interest-bearing liabilities 3,574 274 

 35,704 45,750 
 
(1) Facility repaid in full on 19 July 2021. 
(2) Multiple debentures with contractual rights and specific repayment periods up to 36 months, fully repaid during the 

year ended 30 June 2021. 
(3) Finance leases and loans relating to contractual cash flows associated with lease receivables and loans.  
(4) Unsecured notes are issued subject to the conditions of the Westlawn Trust Deed. The Unsecured notes issued to 

wholesale investors are not governed by the Trust Deed.  

 
Financial exposures - Liquidity risk 
The following are the remaining contractual maturities for the Group’s financial liabilities and their related 
principal and interest cashflows: 
 

 
 

 

Carrying 
amount 

$’000 

Contractual 
cash flows 

$’000 

Less than 1 
year 

$’000 

1 to 2 
years 
$’000 

2 to 5 
years 
$’000 

More than 
5 years 

$’000 
30 June 2021       
Trade and other payables 30,331 (30,331) (27,416) (1,191) (1,724) - 
Corporate facility 1,500 (1,521) (1,521) - - - 
Debenture funding - - - - - - 
Finance lease funding 1,259 (8,551) (4,653) (3,898) - - 
Unsecured notes - variable 15,692 (15,692) (15,692) - - - 
Unsecured notes - fixed 196,334 (196,334) (164,290) (24,466) (7,577) (1) 
Other 4,392 (5,151) (742) (862) (2,435) (1,112) 

 249,508 (257,580) (214,314) (30,417) (11,736) (1,113) 
       

30 June 2020       
Trade and other payables 20,817 (20,817) (19,816) (1,001) - - 
Corporate facility  4,500 (4,652) (3,130) (1,522) - - 
Debenture funding 25,140 (27,414) (17,884) (7,385) (2,145) - 
Finance lease funding 60,766 (70,002) (32,070) (22,885) (15,047) - 
Other 627 (715) (422) (293) - - 

 111,850 (123,600) (73,322) (33,086) (17,192) - 
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
D3 INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES 
 
Variability of cashflows 
The actual payment amounts differ from the above reported amounts due to: 

• changes in market interest rates that impact variable rate loans and contingent consideration, and 
• changes in expected performance of activities in relation to contingent consideration payments. 

 
Covenants 
The Group has a corporate facility that contains a loan covenant; a future breach of covenant may require the 
Group to repay the facility earlier than indicated in the above table. Under the agreement, the covenant is 
monitored on a regular basis by management to ensure compliance with the agreement. All covenants have 
been complied with as at 30 June 2021. 

 
Fair value 
The fair values of financial liabilities are consistent with their balances as disclosed above. 
 
Accounting policy 
See Accounting policy in Note D4. 
 
D4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Accounting policy 
Recognition and Measurement 
Under AASB 9, a financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost; Fair Value through Profit & Loss (FVTPL); 
or Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) as classification of financial assets is generally based 
on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. 
Financial liabilities are also based on the business model and are classified and measured either at amortised 
cost or FVTPL. 
 
Subsequent measurement  
Financial assets at 
FVTPL 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 
any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial assets at 
FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses are 
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for interest or dividend income, 
which are recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income and 
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Lease assets 

Lease assets are recognised, measured and presented in accordance with AASB 16 
Leases, there has been no material changes that have resulted since the 30 June 2019 
financial report, other than the change in accounting estimate included in Note D1. 
Lease asset derecognition and impairment requirements are addressed under the 
requirements of AASB 9. 

Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost  

These liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss with any gain or loss 
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
D4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Impairment   
Impairment requirements use an ECL model under which credit losses are recognised earlier than incurred. The 
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and lease assets where 
the Group acts as lessor. 
 
Loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:  

• 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the 
reporting date, and  

• lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument.  

 
Recognition and Measurement 
The Group applies the Simplified approach under AASB 9 for its financial assets - lease receivables, which follows 
the lifetime ECLs result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 
 
The Group applies the General approach under AASB 9 for its financial assets - loans portfolio, which follows the 
three stages based on the change in credit risk since initial recognition. 
 
The Group considers amortised cost financial assets with the counterparty being ‘investment grade’ to have low 
credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to be BBB or higher per Standard & Poor’s 
 

Measurement of ECLs  
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses with the key exposure being in relation to lease assets 
and loans. ECLs for lease assets and loans are determined on a modified static loss pool basis, taking historical 
static loss pool data and modifying it for lease/loan duration, changes in credit criteria the leases/loan were 
assessed at the commencement of each lease/loan and macro-economic factors that may impact future 
collectability. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls i.e. the difference between 
the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive.  
  

Presentation of impairment  
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount 
of the assets. 
 

Derecognition  
AASB 9 requires derecognition of a financial asset or lease asset where the Group is acting as a lessor when one 
of the following criteria has been met:  

• the asset has been modified to the extent that it does not meet modification criteria and as such needs 
to be derecognised and recognised as a new financial asset,  

• the rights to the cashflows associated with the asset have expired, or  
• the Group has transferred its rights to receive the cashflows from the asset and has transferred 

substantially all risks and rewards. 
 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability is extinguished, which can include:  
• the liability has been modified to the extent that it does not meet modification criteria and as such 

needs to be derecognised and recognised as a new financial liability,  
• repurchase of existing financial liability, or  
• the cashflows associated with the liability have been repaid or expired.  

 

Any gain or loss on derecognition (being the difference between the carrying value and the consideration 
received, if any) is recognised in profit or loss.  
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
D4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Classification of financial instruments 
The Group classifies its financial instruments as follows: 
 

Financial instrument AASB 9 classification 
Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost 
Trade and other receivables 
- Trail income receivable 
 
 

- All other trade and other receivables 

 
Accounted for under AASB 15 Revenue 
as a contract asset 
 

Amortised cost 
Financial assets - lease receivables Accounted for under AASB 16 Leases 
Financial assets - loans Amortised cost 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income FVOCI 
Other financial assets Amortised cost 
Trade and other payables  Amortised cost 
Interest bearing liabilities Amortised cost 

 
D5 LEASE LIABILITIES 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Lease liabilities  6,764 6,017 
 
Maturity analysis   
Current  1,495 1,616 
Non-current 5,269 4,401 
 6,764 6,017 
 
Reconciliation of lease liabilities at the beginning and end of financial year are set out below: 

 
2021 

$’000 
  
Adoption of AASB 16 at 1 July 2019 3,996 
Additions 3,798 
Disposals (104) 
Interest on lease liabilities 341 
Repayment of lease liabilities (2,014) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 6,017 
  
Balance at 1 July 2020 6,017 
Additions 2,645 
Disposals (110) 
Interest on lease liabilities 382 
Repayment of lease liabilities (2,170) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 6,764 
 
Accounting policy 
Recognition and measurement 
Group as lessee 
On commencement date, the Group recognises lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been 
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of AASB 117 Leases. These liabilities are initially measured at 
the present value of the future lease payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 
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D - Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
D4 LEASE LIABILITIES  
 
Accounting policy 
Recognition and measurement 
Group as lessee 
Lease payments mainly comprise fixed lease payments less incentives receivable, variable lease payments based 
upon an index or rate, any amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments 
arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.  
 

After initial measurement, the lease liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is 
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in fixed lease payments.  
 

Accounting policy 
Recognition and measurement 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount 
of the ROU lease asset, or to the profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount has been reduced to zero. 
Interest on the lease liability and variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability 
are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not to recognise ROU lease assets and lease liabilities for 
short term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The lease payments 
associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term with an 
aggregate expense of $1,634k being recognised during the year. 
 

The Group does not face any significant liquidity risk with regards to its lease liabilities. 
 

Non-lease components of property leases 
Under AASB 16, payments for non-lease components (such as property outgoings and taxes), are excluded from 
the lease liability unless an election is made to combine lease and non-lease components. A small portion of the 
Group’s leased property portfolio has non-lease components embedded within their respective contract. 
 

The Group has not elected to combine lease and non-lease components for its property leases. The expense 
related to the non-lease component continues to be recognised as an occupancy expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
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E - Group Structure 
 
E1 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  
 

Key judgement - fair value of assets acquired 
When the Group obtains control over a new acquisition (acquiree) it is required to determine the value of 
assets and liabilities it has acquired. This value is based upon assessment of the fair value of the rights and 
obligations transferred to the Group and involves estimates and judgements in relation to the: 
• date control was obtained over the acquiree by the Group (acquisition date), 
• the acquisition price paid, including any non-cash or deferred consideration, 
• assets and liabilities already recognised by the acquiree, 
• amounts recognised by the acquiree and whether they are representative of the fair value of the assets 

and liabilities, and 
• fair value of assets and liabilities not previously recognised including internally generated intangible 

assets. 
 

These factors are complex and the determination of key assumptions requires a high degree of judgement. 
In the case of large or complex business combinations, external specialists are used to assist in determining 
the fair value of assets and liabilities resulting from the business combination.  
 

If new information obtained within one year from the acquisition date about facts and circumstances that 
existed at the acquisition date, identified adjustments to the fair value, then the amounts recognised as at 
the acquisition date are retrospectively revised. 

 
Acquisition values 
During the year ended 30 June 2021 the Group executed the following acquisitions: 
 

• acquired an additional 19.2% which resulted in a controlling equity interest of 51.02% in Westlawn, 
effective 1 July 2020, and 

• acquired 80.0% of Access Capital Pty Limited (Access) through its 57.1% owned subsidiary QPF Holdings 
Group (QPF). 

 
The values identified for the above acquisitions as at 30 June 2021 are as follows: 
 

  WFL 
$’000 

Access 
$’000 

Purchase consideration    
Cash consideration      3,868  9,100 
Deferred consideration1      2,451  227 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired     (43,402) (123) 

      (37,083)  9,204 
 
Fair value of net assets acquired 

 
  

Trade and other receivables  978 185 
Loans and advances  180,494 - 
Financial assets at FVOCI  8,522 - 
Property, plant and equipment  7,279 - 
Intangible assets  8,684 3,241 
Right-of-use lease assets  - 320 
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)  (1,579) (915) 
Goodwill recognised on acquisition by the Group  - 9,440 
Trade and other payables     (19,017) (446) 
Interest bearing liabilities        (193,848) - 
Provisions        (1,602) (289) 
Fair value of equity interest previously held  (10,484) - 
Non-controlling interests  (16,144) (2,332) 
Gain from a bargain purchase  (366) - 
      (37,083)  9,204 
 
1 Deferred consideration fully paid during FY21. 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
E1 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
 
Acquisition values 
For the acquisitions outlined above: 

• goodwill associated with the acquisitions primarily relates to synergies due to scale and operational 
efficiencies through the sharing of operational expertise throughout the Group and is not expected to 
be tax deductible, 

• gain from a bargain purchase reflects the amount by which the fair value of assets acquired exceeds 
the purchase consideration, 

• non-controlling interests are measured at their proportion of ownership of the fair value of net assets 
at acquisition date, and 

• acquisition accounting for Access Capital remains provisional. 
 
Westlawn 
In September 2018, COG acquired a 31.82% investment in Westlawn Finance Limited for a consideration of 
$14,306k comprised of $10,000k in cash and $4,306k in COG shares. This initial acquisition and subsequent 
changes in COG’s share of Westlawn’s financial position and performance were included in Equity accounted 
associates in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Share of results from associates in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income respectively. 
 
On 12 June 2020, COG entered into an agreement with Westlawn Holdings Pty Limited, to acquire further shares 
in Westlawn in two tranches. COG acquired an additional 19.2% interest in Westlawn for a total consideration 
of $7,451k on 1 July 2020, which resulted in COG holding a 51% controlling interest in Westlawn. 
 
The total consideration above included payment for an option (but not a contractual obligation) to acquire an 
additional 24% interest in Westlawn for a total consideration of $9,320k by no later than 30 June 2023. The fair 
value of the option at acquisition date was determined to be $1,132k based on a binomial option-pricing model 
and has been recognised separately from the business combination transaction as a reduction to equity, in 
accordance with requirements of AASB 132 Financial instruments: Presentation, as this option takes the form of 
a transaction between owners, as Westlawn is a controlled entity. After excluding the amount paid for the 
option, the total consideration attributable to the business combination was determined to be $6,319k.  
 
At the date of acquisition of a controlling interest, the equity interest in Westlawn previously held (which was 
accounted for under the equity method) was treated as a stepped acquisition under AASB 3 Business 
combinations and treated as if it were disposed of and reacquired at fair value, resulting in a loss of $4,590k (net 
of a gain from a bargain purchase of $366k). 
 
The acquired business contributed revenues of $22,017k and net profit after tax of $2,951k to the Group for the 
year from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021, after the elimination of intercompany transactions. Total expenses of $6k 
were included in acquisition-related costs in relation to the WFL business combination. 
 
Access  
Effective 2 November 2020, the Group acquired an 80% equity interest in Access Capital Pty Limited via its 
subsidiary QPF Finance Group (QPF) for a total consideration of $9,325k, funded as follows: 
 
• $4,577k (50%) through external borrowings obtained directly by QPF; 
• $3,601k (39%) through a capital raising by QPF (out of which COG contributed $2,400k, taking its ownership 

interest in QPF from 55.6% to 57.1%); and 
• $1,147k (11%) through current working capital / cash resources at QPF. 

 
The acquired business contributed revenues of $2,754k and net profit after tax of $945k to the Group for the 
period from 2 November 2020 to 30 June 2021. Had Access had been held for the entire year it would have 
contributed revenue and net profit after tax of $4,189k and $1,468k respectively. Total expenses of $44k were 
included in acquisition-related costs in relation to the Access business combination. 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E1 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
 
Transactions between owners 
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group acquired additional interests from minority shareholders in the 
following entities, which were already controlled by the Group: 
 

• Platform Consolidated Group Pty Limited (PCG) 
On 31 July 2020 the Group issued 492,730 fully paid ordinary shares totalling $27.1k as part of the 
consideration for the acquisition of 0.2% of PCG from minority shareholders. 
 

• QPF Holdings Pty Limited (QPF) 
On 9 October 2020, the Group acquired 4,122,195 QPF shares for a total subscription price of $2,400k 
as part of the QPF’s capital raising for the acquisition of Access. QPF also, issued 2,062,339 new shares 
to minority shareholders for a total subscription price of $1,202k. As a result of these share issues, 
COG’s ownership in QPF increased from 55.6% to 57.1%. 

 

• Heritage Group (Heritage) 
Effective 1 July 2020, Linx (50% owned by COG) acquired an additional 13.3% equity interest in Heritage 
Group for a total cash consideration of $639.9k, resulting in Linx’s direct, and COG’s indirect, ownership 
interest in that entity increasing to 63.3% and 35% respectively. 
 

• Linx Group Holdings Pty Limited (Linx) 
Effective 1 January 2021, Linx acquired an additional 4.17% equity interest in Sovereign for a total cash 
consideration of $96.7k, resulting in Linx’s direct, and COG’s indirect, ownership interest in that entity 
increasing to 54.2% and 30% respectively. 
 

• Linx Group Holdings Pty Limited (Linx) 
On 2 June, 2021, the Group issued 4,698,274 fully paid ordinary shares totalling $532.8k as part of the 
acquisition of 4.9% of Linx from minority shareholders. 
 

As the Group already controls the entities above, the additional acquisitions have been treated as a transaction 
between owners and consequently do not generate any additional goodwill or other acquisition adjustments. 
 

Accounting policy 
Principles of consolidation 
Business combinations 
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the 
Group. The consideration transferred for the acquisition is measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net 
assets acquired. The excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 
and non-controlling interests is recorded as goodwill. Acquisition-related expenses are expensed as incurred, 
except if they are related to the issue of equity securities, in which case they are recognised in equity. 
 

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 

Non-controlling interests 
Non-controlling interests (NCI) are measured at their proportionate share of the acquired subsidiaries’ 
identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. The term ‘NCI’ is used to describe that portion not owned by 
the parent entity, the NCI share of the consolidated profit and net assets is disclosed separately in the 
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and 
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. 
 

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions 
with equity owners of the Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any 
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is 
deducted from equity. 
 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in full.  
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E2 EQUITY ACCOUNTED ASSOCIATES 
 
Earlypay Limited (formerly CML Group Limited) 
In January 2020 COG acquired 37,770,423 ordinary shares in Earlypay Limited (EPY), at a cost of $22,030k 
(inclusive of brokerage and GST). On 29 June 2021, Westlawn acquired 7,450,070 shares in EPY for $3,130k. 
COG’s investment in EPY represents a 16.59% interest in that company as at 30 June 2021. The Group made an 
irrevocable election on initial recognition and designated the investment in EPY at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
 
On 19 November 2020, Steve White, a non-executive director of COG, was appointed a non-executive director 
of EPY.  COG’s representation on the EPY Board, in combination with COG’s voting rights in EPY, resulted in the 
COG gaining significant influence in EPY, and has therefore adopted the equity method of accounting for its 
investment in EPY effective from 19 November 2020. Consequently, the Group’s proportionate share of EPY’s 
financial position and performance are included in Equity accounted associates in the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position and Share of results from associates in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 
 
The carrying amount of the investment presented as FVOCI at the time of appointment of COG non-executive 
director to EPY was $13,408k, and included fair value adjustment net gains of $4,532k recognised in revaluation 
reserves. The Group’s accounting policy for step acquisitions of associates is to measure the cost of the 
investment as the sum of the fair value of the interest previously held plus the fair value of the additional 
consideration, both at the date of the transaction.  
 
EPY is an ASX-listed company and is a provider of secured finance to SME businesses in the form of invoice and 
equipment finance. Through its receivables finance facility, it provides an advance payment of up to 80% of a 
client’s invoice to help their businesses overcome the cash pressure of delivering goods or services in advance 
of payment from their customers (often 30 to 60 days). This is a flexible line of credit that is utilised in line with 
sales volume. It will also consider an additional advance to a client (above the usual 80%), for an additional fee 
and when there is adequate security from the client to cover the position. Other services include trade finance 
to assist client finance purchases, as well as equipment finance to assist SME’s with capital expenditure on items 
required to operate their businesses. 
 
The carrying amount of equity-accounted investment in EPY has changed as follows in the year ended 30 June 
2021: 

  
30 June  

2021 
  $’000 
  
Balance at the beginning of the year (Investment classified as financial instrument at 
FVOCI) 8,876 
Changes in fair value through OCI 4,532 
Balance on the date significant influence determined 13,408 
Share of results from associates (1) 1,075 
Additional investment by Westlawn in EPY (2) 3,130 
Balance at the end of the year (3) 17,613 

 
(1) Share of results from associates in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income includes results from other non-material 
     associates of $148k (2020: $46k). 
 

(2) On 29 June 2021, Westlawn acquired 7,450,070 shares in EPY for $3,130k.  
 
(3) Equity accounted associates in the Consolidated statement of financial position includes investment in other non-material associates of  
     $791k (2020: $755k). 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E2 EQUITY ACCOUNTED ASSOCIATES 
 
 The table below provides summarised financial information for Earlypay, material associate of the Group. 
 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
   

Current assets 259,671 220,289 
Non-current assets 116,759 114,694 
Current liabilities (204,448) (159,716) 
Non-current liabilities (113,558) (122,877) 
Net assets (100%) 58,424 52,390 
   
Group's share of net assets 16.59% (2020: nil%) 9,693 - 
Fair value adjustment on initial recognition 7,920 - 
Carrying amount of investment in associate 17,613 - 
   
Revenue 43,865 47,506 
Profit from continuing operations (100%) 10,320 3,535 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) (100%) - - 
Total comprehensive income (100%) 10,320 3,535 
Total comprehensive income 16.59% (2020: nil%) 1 1,151 - 
Adjustment on finalisation of associate’s results (76) - 
Group's share of total comprehensive income/(loss) 1,075 - 
 
1 Calculated based on a profit from continuing operations of $6,938k for the period from 19 November 2020 (date in which significant  
   influence was obtained) to 30 June 2021. 
 

 
Other equity accounted associates 
The Group also has equity interests in the individually immaterial associates, Riverwise Pty Limited and Simply 
Finance Group of 33% and 25%, respectively. 
 
The table below provides financial information for the Group’s interest in its equity accounted associates: 
 

 
Year ended 30 June 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Westlawn - (144) 
Earlypay 1,075 - 
Other associates 148 46 
Group’s share of total comprehensive income/(loss) 1,223 (98) 
 
Share of results from associates 1,223 642 
Revaluations by associate - (740) 
Group’s share of total comprehensive income/(loss) 1,223 (98) 
 

 
As at 30 June 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Westlawn - 15,439 
Earlypay 17,613 - 
Other immaterial associates 791 755 
Carrying amount of interests in associates 18,404 16,194 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E2 EQUITY ACCOUNTED ASSOCIATES 
 
The table below provides financial information for the Group’s interest in its equity accounted associates: 
 

Related party transactions with associates 
The Group had the following related party transactions with its equity accounted associates: 
 

Amounts owing by / (to) associates 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Receivables at 30 June                        20                        2  
Payables at 30 June   (85)   (82) 
   Transactions with associates   
Dividend income  95 333 
Receipts for administrative services - 2 
Director fees  - 110 
Payments for goods and administrative services    (1,588)    (2,124) 
Finance costs paid on the finance lease portfolio - (2,804) 
Interest income on intercompany loan 15 25 
 

Accounting policy 
Interests in equity-accounted associates 
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control. 
Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profit or loss of associates in the 
Group’s profit or loss. 
 

Elimination of transactions with associates 
As outlined in Note A4, the Group incurs finance costs in relation to its finance lease portfolio. The Group 
eliminates a share of the downstream financing costs paid to Westlawn consistent with its ownership percentage 
of Westlawn; this in effect reduces interest expense on finance lease portfolio costs and decreases share of 
associates profit from Westlawn by corresponding amounts.  
 
E3 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
 

E3.1 ORDINARY SHARES  
   2021 2020 

  
2021  

$’000 
2020  

$’000 
No. of shares 

‘000 
No. of shares 

‘000 
Shares issued and fully paid         
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 241,179 220,905 1,571,736 1,341,297 
Shares issued via rights issue  - 12,420   - 137,999 
Shares issued via placement (1) 2,000 7,777   33,898 86,413 
Shares issued in business combinations (2) 560 556 5,191 6,027 
Shares issued under DRP (3) 3,755 - 52,636 - 
Costs of raising capital, net of tax (179) (479) -  -  
Balance at the end of the financial year 247,315 241,179 1,663,461 1,571,736 

 
 

(1) On 16 November 2020 the Company issued 33,898,305 fully paid ordinary shares totalling $2,000k as part of the 
consideration of the acquisition of 80% of Access (see Note E1). 
 

(2) On 31 July 2020 the Company issued 492,730 fully paid ordinary shares totalling $27.1k as part of the consideration for 
the acquisition of 0.2% of PCG from minority shareholders. On 2 June 2021, the Company issued 4,698,274 fully paid 
ordinary shares totalling $532.8k as part of the acquisition of 4.9% of Linx from minority shareholders (see Note E1). 

 

(3) The Company issued 25,324,500 fully paid ordinary shares for $1,568k under COG’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) 
on 23 October 2020, and a further 13,282,654 fully paid ordinary shares for $822k on 2 November 2020 to the 
underwriters of the DRP shortfall, in respect of the FY20 final dividend. The Company issued 14,029,271 fully paid 
ordinary shares for $1,365k on 26 April 2021 under COG’s DRP in respect of the FY21 interim dividend.  
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E3.1 ORDINARY SHARES  
 
At an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) held on 30 June 2021, the shareholders approved the consolidation 
of the Company’s issued share capital (every 10 shares and every 10 options were consolidated into one share 
and one option, respectively), effective 1 July 2021. As the consolidation applies equally to all shareholders, the 
holdings of individual shareholders have reduced in the same ratio as the total number of shares (subject to 
rounding). The share capital consolidation has had no effect on the percentage interests in the Company of each 
shareholder and has not resulted in any change in the substantive rights and obligations of existing shareholders 
or the holders of options. 
 
Ordinary shares participate in the dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to 
the number of shares held and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. In the 
event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after unsecured creditors. As at 30 June 2020 
and 2021: 
 

• all shares issued are fully paid, 
• the Company does not have a maximum value of shares authorised, 
• Company shares do not have a par value, 
• there are no treasury shares held, and 
• no shares are reserved for issue under options or other contracts. 

 
Refer Note A3.1 for potential ordinary shares relating to options granted to KMP. 
 
E3.2 DIVIDENDS 
 
On 15 October 2019, the Company adopted a dividend policy, targeting a dividend payout ratio of up to 50% of 
statutory net profit after tax, after non-controlling interests, per annum. The policy has since been revised to 
accommodate a payout ratio of up to 70% of NPATA to members. 
 

The Company also implemented a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP). The DRP rules are disclosed on the 
company’s website www.cogfs.com.au. Under the DRP, holders of ordinary shares can elect to have all or part 
of their dividend entitlements satisfied by the issue of new ordinary shares rather than being paid in cash. Shares 
issued under the DRP may be subject to a discount of up to 5% of the market price, or a higher percentage 
determined by the Board. 
 
Dividends recognised during the reporting period 
Since the year ended 30 June 2020, the Board had declared a fully franked final dividend of 0.152 cents per fully 
paid ordinary share (2019: nil cents). The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend was paid on 23 October 
2020 out of the Company’s profits reserve at 30 June 2020. Due to the operation of the Company’s Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan (DRP) and a DRP shortfall underwriting agreement, COG issued 25,324,500 fully paid shares 
on 23 October 2020 and 13,282,654 fully paid shares on 2 November 2020, in respect of the dividend (Note 
E3.1). 
 

For the period ended 31 December 2020, the Board declared an interim dividend of 0.122 cents per fully paid 
ordinary share (2019: nil cents). The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend of $2,007k was paid on 26 April 
2021 out of the Company’s profits reserve at 31 December 2020, and was 100% franked. COG issued 14,029,271 
fully paid shares on 26 April 2021 under COG’s DRP in respect of the FY21 interim dividend (Note E3.1). 
 
Dividends not recognised at the end of the reporting period  
For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Board declared a final dividend of 6.0 cents per fully paid ordinary share 
(0.6 cents per fully paid ordinary share, pre-consolidation) (2020: 0.152 cents per fully paid ordinary share). The 
aggregate amount of the proposed dividend expected to be paid on 22 October 2021 out of the Company’s 
profit reserve at 30 June 2021, but not recognised as a liability at year end, is $9,981k. 
 
The final dividend declared after 30 June 2021 will be fully franked out of existing franking credits, or out of 
franking credits arising from the payment of income tax in the year ending 30 June 2022.  
 
 

http://www.cogfs.com.au/
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E3.2 DIVIDENDS  
 
Franked dividends  
As at the end of the financial year, the franking credits available for subsequent financial periods based on a tax 
rate of 30% was $11,687k (2020: $9,294k).  
 
The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at end of the period 
adjusted for: 
 

• franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liability, 
• franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at period end, 
• franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at period end, and 
• franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years. 

 
The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available net assets to declare 
dividends, and the payment of dividends not prejudicing COG’s ability to pay its creditors. 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E3.3 RESERVES 
 
The movement in reserves is as follows: 

  
  Profits  

reserve 
$’000 

Foreign  
currency  

translation  
reserve 

$’000 

 
Equity  

securities  
at FVOCI  

reserve 
$’000 

Share  
based  

payments  
reserve 

$’000 

 
Transactions 

between  
owners’  
reserve 

$’000 

Non- 
controlling 

interests  
reserve 

$’000 

 
 
 
 

Total 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2019  44,889 (16) - 240 - (6,549) 38,564 
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 16 (222) - - - - - (222) 
Non-controlling interest acquired - - - - - (144) (144) 
Share-based payments expense - - - 100 - - 100 
Changes in equity securities at fair value - - (13,139) - - - (13,139) 
Transfer to reserves  (740) - - - - - (740) 
Balance at 30 June 2019 43,927 (16) (13,139) 340 - (6,693) 24,419 
        
Balance at 1 July 2020  43,927 (16) (13,139) 340 - (6,693) 24,419 
Non-controlling interest acquired - - - - - (2,328) (2,328) 
Share-based payments expense - - - (60) - - (60) 
Transactions between owners - - - - 1,711 - 1,711 
Changes in equity securities fair value - - 4,603 - - - 4,603 
Option to acquire further interest in subsidiary - - - - (1,132) - (1,132) 
Dividends paid (4,396) - - - - - (4,396) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 39,531 (16) (8,536) 280 579 (9,021) 22,817 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E3.3 RESERVES 
 
Reserves 
Profits reserve 
The Profits reserve was established to accumulate profits relating to previous financial years for the purpose of 
facilitating the payment of dividends in future financial years. 
 
Foreign currency translation reserve 
This reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of 
foreign operations to Australian Dollars. The reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the net investment is 
disposed of. 
 
Revaluation reserve 
The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of the FVOCI investment in Earlypay immediately before its 
reclassification as Investment in associate. 
 
Equity securities at FVOCI reserve 
This reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity securities designated at FVOCI. 
 
Share-based payments reserve 
The Share-based payment reserves is used to recognise: 

• the fair values of options and rights issued to executives, and 
• variances between the fair value of shares issued to executives and the value the related shares are 

issued for. 
 
Non-controlling interests reserve 
This reserve is used to record the differences which may arise as a result of transactions with non-controlling 
interests that do not result in a loss of control. 
 
Transaction between owners’ reserve 
Reflects the fair value of the option held by COG to acquire an additional 24% interest in Westlawn for a total 
consideration of $9,324k by no later than 30 June 2023. The option has been recognised separately from the 
business combination transaction as a reduction to equity, in accordance with requirements of AASB 132 
Financial instruments: Presentation, as this option takes the form of a transaction between owners.  
 
Capital management policy 
Management utilises the existing share capital of the Company to ensure there is sufficient funding to manage 
day-to-day working capital, service debt arrangements and fund minor business acquisitions while ensuring the 
Group continues as a going concern. 
 
Alterations to the Group’s capital are undertaken primarily to provide funding for additional acquisitions in the 
Finance Broking & Aggregation and Lending segments consistent with the Group’s communicated strategy.  
 
Careful consideration of the existing capital structure and additional capital requirements are undertaken when 
examining proposed acquisitions; with the cost of capital and utilisation of debt funding weighed up to ensure 
an appropriate mix of funding to support on-going capital management requirements.  
 
At all times during the financial year, the Group was in compliance with externally imposed capital requirements 
on its secured loan facility. Consistent with the capital structure requirements, all proposed capital structure 
changes are discussed with the counterparty to the secured loan facility prior to enactment. 
 
Accounting policy 
Share capital 
Share capital represents the fair value of shares that have been issued. Any transaction costs directly associated 
with the issuing of shares are deducted from share capital, net of any related income tax benefits. All transactions 
with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E4 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Transactions with Key Management Personnel and related parties  
Key Management Personnel compensation 
Key Management Personnel compensation is comprised as follows: 

 
2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
   
Short-term employee benefits 1,667,527 1,321,309 
Post-employment benefits 102,534 93,086 
Other long-term benefits 13,827 21,591 
Share-based payments 227,081 100,000 
 2,010,969 1,535,986 
 

Indemnification for vendor program losses 
During the 2019 and 2018 financial years TL Commercial Finance undertook a number of transactions with an 
equipment finance vendor program partner. During the 2019 financial year the vendor partner entered into 
voluntary liquidation. While the Group considered the underlying lease arrangements with lessees introduced 
as part of the program were enforceable the Group took the action to settle these lessee obligations for a lower 
value than our contractual rights. Cameron McCullagh, one of the Group’s Executive Directors, chose to 
indemnify the Group for the majority of this loss. As part of this indemnification Mr McCullagh paid an amount 
of $1,023,160 to the Group to offset the net cash loss incurred by the Group. During the 2021 financial year an 
amount of $125,692 was recovered and subsequently repaid to Mr McCullagh. 
 

Loans from Key Management Personnel and their related entities 
During 2021, KMP invested $nil (2020: $450,000) in fixed interest debentures issued by Secured Finance Limited 
(SFL), a COG controlled entity. Interest is payable on an arms-length basis ranging from 8% to 10% (2020: 8% to 
10%) per annum and the loans are repaid in cash on average 17 months after the issue date. The interest and 
principal repayments on debenture investments during the year are outlined in the table below. As outlined 
below all balances are nil and this debenture has discontinued. 
 

Transactions with Key Management Personnel and related parties - Fixed interest debentures  
 

KMP  
(and related entities)  

Balance at 
1 July 
2020 

Amount 
advanced 

during the 
year 

Commission 
received 

Interest 
payment 

Principal 
repayment 

Balance at 
30 June 

2021 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
              
Bruce Hatchman (3) 85,331 - - 3,997 85,331 - 
Cameron McCullagh 65,802 - - 3,873 65,802 - 
Steve White 376,286 - - 19,426 376,286 - 
Andrew Bennett(1)  508,701 - - 30,056 508,701 - 
John McRae - - - - - - 
Total 1,036,120 - - 57,352 1,036,120 - 
 

KMP  
(and related entities)  

Balance at 
1 July 
2019 

Amount 
advanced 

during the 
year 

Commission 
received 

Interest 
payment 

Principal 
repayment 

Balance at 
30 June 

2020 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ 
              
Bruce Hatchman(3) 63,243 100,000 - 8,600 77,912 85,331 
Cameron McCullagh 2,486,711 - - 119,318 2,420,909 65,802 
Steve White 139,852 350,000 - 29,252 113,566 376,286 
Andrew Bennett(1)  594,000 - - 54,210 85,299 508,701 
John McRae (2) - - - - - - 
Total 3,283,806 450,000 - 211,380 2,697,686 1,036,120 
 

(1) Andrew Bennett commenced as a KMP on 1 July 2018.      (3) Bruce Hatchman ceased to be a KMP on 8 September 2020. 
(2) John McRae commenced as a KMP on 1 July 2019. 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 
 
E4 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Key Management Personnel share and option transactions 
The movement during the year in the number of ordinary shares held, directly or indirectly, by each of the KMP, 
including their related parties, is as follows: 

KMP shareholdings 

30 June 
2020  

No. of 
shares 

On market 
purchase 

No. of 
shares 

 
On market 

sale 
No. of  
shares 

 
Off market 

transfer 
No. of  
shares 

KMP change(1) 

No. of  
shares 

30 June 
2021(2) 

No. of  
shares 

Executive Directors       
Cameron McCullagh 296,484,461 33,609,492 - - - 330,093,953 
Mark Crain (5) 13,156,349 - - - - 13,156,349 
Non-executive 
Directors   

 
   

Patrick Tuttle (3) 2,650,046 - - - - 2,650,046 
Bruce Hatchman 729,166 - - - (729,166) - 
Steve White 3,757,083 - - - - 3,757,083 
Peter Rollason  - - - - - - 
Senior Management       
Andrew Bennett (4)  700,000 - - - - 700,000 
John McRae - - - - - - 

 317,477,105 33,609,492 - - (729,166) 350,357,431 
       

KMP shareholdings 

 
30 June 

2019  

No. of 
shares 

On market 
purchase 

No. of 
shares 

 
On market 

sale 
No. of  
shares 

 
Off market 

transfer 
No. of  
shares 

KMP change(1) 

No. of  
shares 

30 June 
2020(2) 

No. of  
shares 

Executive Directors       

Cameron McCullagh 252,906,800 43,577,661 - - - 296,484,461 
Rohan Ford 56,599,748 - - - (56,599,748) - 
Mark Crain(5)  - - - - 13,156,349 13,156,349 
Non-executive 
Directors   

 
   

Patrick Tuttle (3) 2,271,468 378,578 - - - 2,650,046 
Bruce Hatchman 625,000 104,166 - - - 729,166 
Steve White 3,643,750 308,333 (195,000) - - 3,757,083 
Senior Management       
Andrew Bennett(4)   700,000     - - - - 700,000 
John McRae - - - - - - 

 316,746,766 44,368,738 (195,000) - (43,443,399) 317,477,105 
 
(1) Represents their holdings at the point they commenced / ceased to be a KMP. 
(2) KMP shareholdings remain consistent at annual report issue date. 
(3) Patrick Tuttle commenced as a KMP on 3 October 2018. 
(4) Andrew Bennett commenced as a KMP on 1 July 2018. 
(5) Mark Crain commenced as a KMP on 15 November 2019. 
 
Key Management Personnel option transactions 
Andrew Bennett 
Details of share options granted to Andrew Bennett as part of his remuneration package are disclosed in Note A3.1. 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 

 
E5 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 
 
E5.1 SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
As at, and throughout, the financial year ended 30 June 2021 the ultimate parent company of the Group was 
COG Financial Services Limited. 
 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Results of parent entity   
Profit/(loss) for the year after tax (24,807) (5,762) 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 4,532 (13,139) 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (20,275) (18,901) 
     
 
Financial position of the ultimate parent company at year end     
Current assets 8,257 8,829 
Non-current assets 175,856 194,252 
Total assets 184,113 203,081 
     
Current liabilities 4,324 4,390 
Non-current liabilities 2,423 2,729 
Total liabilities 6,747 7,119 
     
Net assets of the ultimate parent company at year end 177,366 195,962 
     
 
Total equity of the ultimate parent company comprising of:     
Share capital 247,315 241,179 
Accumulated losses (106,941) (82,133) 
Reserves 36,992 36,916 
Total equity 177,366 195,962 
 
Parent entity contingencies and commitments are outlined in Note F1. 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 

 
E5.2 INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, and results of the following key 
subsidiaries: 
 

Name of entity(1) Direct equity interest Indirect equity interest(2) 

Consolidated Finance Group Pty Limited 100%  
CFG (Qld) Pty Limited  100% 
QPFCFG Pty Limited  100% 
   
   Hal Group Pty Limited 100%   
Number Rentals Pty Limited   100% 
TL Commercial Finance Pty Limited (Formerly TL 
Rentals Pty Limited)   100% 

TL Rentals SPV NO 1 Pty Limited   100% 
   
   Centrepoint Finance Pty Limited 100%  
EF Systems Pty Limited  100% 
Finance 2 Business Pty Limited  100% 
   
   Platform Consolidated Group Pty Limited 70%   
Advance Car Loans Pty Limited   70% 
Beinformed Group (VIC) Pty Limited   70% 
Melbourne Finance Broking Pty Limited   70% 
Mildura Finance Pty Limited   70% 
Platinum Direct Finance Australia Pty Limited  70% 
Platinum Direct Finance (Central Coast) Pty Limited    35% 
Platinum Fleet Pty Limited    49% 
Platform Equipment Finance Pty Limited  70% 
Consolidated Platform Aggregation Pty Limited   52% 
Consolidated Platform Aggregation Unit Trust  52% 
Fleet Avenue Pty Limited   35% 
Fleet Network Pty Limited   67% 
Vehicle and Equipment Finance Pty Limited   35% 
Geelong Financial Group Vehicle and Equipment 
Finance Pty Limited  17% 

      
QPF Holdings Pty Limited 57%   
Qld Pacific Finance Pty Limited  57% 
QPF Insurance Pty Limited   46% 
QPF Mortgages Pty Limited   57% 
Security Allied Finance Pty Limited   57% 
DLV (QLD) Pty Limited   28% 
Access Capital Pty Limited  46% 
      
Linx Group Holdings Pty Limited 55%   
Linx Finance Australia Pty Limited   55% 
Linx Insurance Australia Pty Limited   55% 
Linx Mortgage Australia Pty Limited   55% 
Linx HF Pty Limited  55% 
Linx HC Pty Limited  55% 
Heritage Finance Management Pty Limited   35% 
Heritage Finance Partnership  35% 
Heritage Corporate Management Pty Limited  35% 
Heritage Corporate Partnership  35% 
Sovereign Tasmania Pty Limited  30% 
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E - Group Structure (continued) 

 
E5.2 INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES 
 
Name of entity(1) Direct equity interest Indirect equity interest(2) 

Westlawn Finance Limited 51%   
North State Finance Pty Ltd  51% 
Westlawn Insurance Brokers Pty Ltd  51% 
Grafton Investments Pty Ltd  51% 
Westlawn Financial Services Limited  51% 
Westlawn Insurance Brokers (Coffs) Pty Ltd  41% 
Westlawn Insurance Brokers (Vic) Pty Ltd  51% 
    
(1) Excludes entities that were dormant during the year ended 30 June 2021. 
(2) Indirect equity interests represent the beneficial interest in entities which are non-wholly owned but are controlled 

entities of direct equity interests. 
 
 
E6 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Non-current assets   
Listed securities   
Earlypay Limited - 8,876 
Steadfast Limited 879 - 
   
Unlisted securities   
Units in unlisted unit trusts 29 - 
 908 8,876 
Reconciliation of carrying amount 
   
Opening fair value 8,876 - 
Increase due to Westlawn acquisition  3,137 - 
Additions - - 
Disposals (8,953) - 
Reclassified to investment in associate (8,876)  
Revaluation increments 6,724 - 
Revaluation decrements - - 
Closing fair value 908 8,876 
 
Refer to note F2 for further information on fair value measurement. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
In January 2020 COG acquired 37,770,423 ordinary shares in Earlypay Limited (EPY), at a cost of $22,030k 
(inclusive of brokerage and GST). COG’s investment in EPY represents a 16.59% interest in that company as at 
30 June 2021. The Group made an irrevocable election on initial recognition and designated the investment in 
EPY at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
 
On 19 November 2020, Steve White, a non-executive director of COG, was appointed a non-executive director 
of EPY.  COG’s representation on the EPY Board, in combination with COG’s voting rights in EPY, resulted in the 
COG gaining significant influence in EPY, and has therefore adopted the equity method of accounting for its EPY 
investment effective from 19 November 2020. Consequently, the Group’s proportionate share of EPY’s financial 
position and performance are included in Equity accounted associates in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position and Share of results from associates in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income outlined 
in Note E2. 
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F - Other 
 
F1 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 

Commitments  
The Group has commitments to acquire contributed equity of various subsidiaries. The following estimated 
commitments, which may vary in terms of percentage and timing, are based upon multiples of future financial 
years’ normalised EBITDA and include an option for a one-year deferral by either party: 

• Fleet Network Pty Limited (4.2% of contributed equity in the year ended 30 June 2021), 
• Linx Group Holdings Pty Limited (7.7% of contributed equity to be acquired by the Group between the 

years ending 30 June 2021 and 2024), 
• Platform Consolidated Group Pty Limited (5.8% of contributed equity to be acquired by the Group 

between the years ending 30 June 2021 and 2022), 
• QPF Holdings Pty Limited (10.2% of contributed equity to be acquired by the Group between the years 

ending 30 June 2021 and 2024), and 
• Vehicle and Equipment Finance Pty Limited (25% of contributed equity to be acquired by the Group 

between the years ending 30 June 2021 and 2024). 
 
Contingencies 
 
 

Secured Finance Limited – Debenture Funding 
The Secured Finance Limited (SFL) debenture program was discontinued and all outstanding debentures repaid 
in full during the financial year ended 30 June 2021.  SFL was deregistered on 14 July 2021.  
 
Westlawn Finance Limited - Guarantee 
COG has provided a guarantee to Westlawn in relation to finance lease and chattel mortgage loan funding 
arrangements provided to TLC. Amounts owed under this arrangement are included in Finance lease funding 
and other interest bearing liabilities disclosed in Note D3. 
 
Westlawn Financial Services Pty Limited – Letter of financial support 
COG has provided a letter of financial support to Westlawn Financial Services Limited (WFS) whereby it has 
agreed to provide on a pro rata basis with other Westlawn shareholders, such financial support as may be 
necessary to enable WFS to meet its financial commitments as the responsible entity for the Westlawn Income 
Fund (WIF), a registered managed investment scheme administered by WFS.  COG’s commitment to WFS is 
currently limited to its 51.02% ownership interest in Westlawn.  
 
Hal Group Pty Limited 
General security interest 
COG holds a registered general security interest (GSA) over the assets and undertakings of its subsidiary, Hal 
Group Pty Limited (Hal), and its wholly owned subsidiary, TL Commercial Finance Pty Limited (TLC) (formerly TL 
Rentals Pty Limited). The COG GSA secures repayment of monies loaned to Hal under the COG loan facility. 
 
Letter of financial support 
COG has provided a letter of financial support to Hal and its controlled entities. 
 
 

There are no other material contingencies or commitments at the end of the reporting period. 
 
F2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The main types of risks are credit risk 
and liquidity risk which are outlined in the following sections: 
 

Credit risk: 
• Note A7 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 
• Note C1 Trade and other receivables 
• Note D1 Financial assets - lease receivables 
• Note D2 Financial assets - loans 

 

Liquidity risk: 
• Note C2 Trade and other payables 
• Note D3 Interest bearing liabilities 
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F - Other (continued) 
 
F2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
 

The Group's contract and other financial assets held at amortised cost are not exposed to credit risk arising from 
expected credit losses due to the high quality of counterparty and the lack of history of losses and non-recovery. 
The Group has an immaterial exposure to market risks. 
 

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. 
The Board oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and 
procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the 
Group. 
 
The following table summarises the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, measured or disclosed at 
fair value on a recurring basis, using a three level hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement, being: 
 
Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded equity securities) 
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.  
 
Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in 
level 2.  
 
Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.  
 
Recurring fair value measurements  
30 June 2021 

Level 1 
$’000 

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Financial assets     
Financial assets at FVOCI 879 - 29 908 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale - 110 - 110 
Land and buildings - 4,105 - 4,105 
Total  879 4,215 29 5,123 

     
Recurring fair value measurements  
30 June 2020 

Level 1 
$’000 

Level 2 
$’000 

Level 3 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Financial assets     
Financial assets at FVOCI 8,876 - - 8,876 
Total  8,876 - - 8,876 

     
There were no transfers between level 2 and 3 for recurring fir value measurements during the financial year.  
 
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the 
reporting period. 
 
Valuation techniques used to determine fair values measurements categorised within level 2 and level 3 
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include: 
 

• The use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments 
• For other financial instruments - discounted cash flow analysis 
• The basis of valuation of land and buildings is fair value. Valuations are based on current prices for 

similar properties in the same location and condition. Valuations are undertaken periodically, at least 
every three years, or more frequently if there is a material change in the fair value relative to the 
carrying amount. 
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F - Other (continued) 
 
F2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
Level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities 
Movements in Level 3 financial assets during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
 

 

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through  
OCI 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

   
At 1 July 2020 - - 
Acquired through business combinations (Westlawn acquisition) 122 - 
Disposals (93) - 
At 30 June 2021 29 - 
 
Maturity analysis 
 

The following tables detail the Group's mismatch in the maturity of its financial assets and financial liabilities. 
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of both assets and liabilities based on the 
earliest expected contractual payment date. The tables include only the principal cash flows disclosed and 
therefore does not include any interest components that may be received or paid. 

 
 

 At call 
$’000 

0 to 3 
months 

$’000 

3 to 12 
months 

$’000 

1 to 5 
years 
$’000 

Over 5 
years 
$’000 

No 
specified 
maturity 

$’000 

 
 

Total 
$’000 

30 June 2021        
Cash and cash equivalents 37,104 57,410 - - - - 94,514 
Trade and other receivables - 18,175 - - - - 18,175 
Other financial assets - 26 2,290 3,311 - 6,542 12,169 
Financial assets at FVOCI - - - - - 908 908 
Financial assets - lease receivables - 10,813 30,440 56,915   98,168 
Financial assets - loans - 13,837 30,446 55,565 7  99,855 
Trade and other payables - (7,734) (19,765) (2,832) - - (30,331) 
Interest-bearing liabilities (15,692) (59,896) (89,254) (54,334) (1) - (219,177) 
Lease liabilities - (148) (1,494) (5,074) (48) - (6,764) 
Net mismatch 21,412 32,483 (47,337) 53,551 (42) 7,450 67,517 
        

30 June 2020        
Cash and cash equivalents - 34,691 - - - - 34,691 
Trade and other receivables - 17,973 - - - - 17,973 
Other financial assets - - 289 4,242 - - 4,531 
Financial assets at FVOCI - - - - - 8,876 8,876 
Financial assets - lease receivables - 340 12,229 81,062 - - 93,631 
Financial assets - loans - - - 2,384 - - 2,384 
Trade and other payables - (19,436) - (1,381) - - (20,817) 
Interest-bearing liabilities - (143) (33,336) (57,554) - - (91,033) 
Lease liabilities - - (1,616) (4,401) - - (6,017) 
Net mismatch - 33,425 (22,434) 24,352 - 8,876 44,219 
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F - Other (continued) 
 
F2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
Financial exposures - Interest rate risk 
This is the risk due to any mismatch between the interest rate on borrowings to that of lending.  
 

The Company maintains an interest rate lending margin over and above its cost of funds which provides a buffer 
for upward movements in interest rates.  
 

As at the reporting date, the Group had the following variable rate assets and liabilities outstanding: 
 

 2021 2021 2020 2020 
 Weighted 

average 
interest 

rate  
% 

 
 
 

Balance 
$’000 

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate  
% 

 
 
 

Balance 
$’000 

     
Cash and cash equivalents 0.1% 94,514 0.2% 34,691 
Financial assets - leases 13.1% 93,039 13.0% 89,384 
Financial assets - loans 6.5% 98,920 10.1% 2,294 
Interest-bearing liabilities  (1.6%)   (219,177) (8.6%) (91,032) 
Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk  67,296  35,337 

 
Interest rate sensitivity analysis  
The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to variable interest rate risk at balance 
date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which could result 
from a change in this risk.  
 
The effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other variables remaining 
constant would be as follows: 
 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Change in profit after tax   
Increase in interest rate by 100 basis points 673 353 
Decrease in interest rate by 100 basis points (673) (353) 
   
Change in equity   
Increase in interest rate by 100 basis points 673 353 
Decrease in interest rate by 100 basis points (673) (353) 
 
 
No sensitivity analysis has been performed on foreign exchange risk, as the Consolidated Group is not exposed 
to foreign currency fluctuations. 
 
F3 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
At the end of the financial year, Management became aware of a potential fraud relating to a portfolio of 
equipment lease receivables arranged by Forum Finance under a Principal & Agency (P&A) agreement with 
Westlawn. Full provision has been made for all contracts that are potentially fraudulent, and subsequent to 30 
June 2021 a replacement P&A agreement was put in place with a new service provider. The Group, and 
Westlawn’s minority shareholder, have also acquired a 51.02% and 48.98% interest respectively in the 
receivables portfolio and its residual rights from secondary income.   
 
Apart from the matters disclosed above and elsewhere in this report, no other matter or circumstance has arisen 
since 30 June 2021 that would materially affect the Group’s reported results or would require disclosure in this 
report. 
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F - Other (continued) 

F4 AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION  

 
2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
Auditors of the Group - BDO and related network firms   
Audit and review of financial statements    
Group  119,775 123,900 
Controlled entities 297,025 414,500 
 416,800 538,400 
   
Non-audit services   
BDO East Coast Partnership - financial model review - - 
 - - 
   
Total services provided by BDO 416,800 538,400 
   
Other auditors and their related network firms   
Audit and review of financial statements   
Controlled entities 106,717 22,550 
Total services provided by other auditors (excluding BDO) 106,717 22,550 
 
 
F5 NEW OR AMENDED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED 
 
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board that are mandatory for the current reporting period.  
 
The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the 
financial performance or position of the Group during the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 
 
The Group has adopted AASB 16 Leases in the previous financial year, consistent with the mandatory adoption 
date of 1 July 2019. 
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